

LUDWIG-MAXIMILIANS-UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

GESCHWISTER-SCHOLL-INSTITUT FÜR POLITIKWISSENSCHAFT





2012

1 N[VRYõ [al/[

CSU^CbY_cô_^65E 65^UbWi/6CUSebYd @_\\Si * UnTUbccd2^TY^W2555C@602^Tô \dc68XQ\\U^WUc.

Bachelorarbeit bei Dr. 9N_`@\YPUR[2012

CONTENTS

| List of Figures | | |
|-----------------|---|----|
| Abbrev | viations | 6 |
| 1. Int | roduction | 7 |
| 1.1. | Energy Security | 7 |
| 1.2. | The Year 2011 | 8 |
| 1.3. | The Approach1 | .0 |
| 2. Sce | enario Theory1 | .2 |
| 2.1. | Origins of the Modern Scenario Method and its Implications1 | .2 |
| 2.2. | Scenario Method1 | .5 |
| 3. EU | Energy Security Policy | 20 |
| 3.1. | The Past (1952-2000) | 20 |
| 3.2. | The Last Decade (2000-2010) | 2 |
| 4. Th | e "State of Affairs" of EESP | :6 |
| 4.1. | The Sources of Energy | :6 |
| 4.2. | The Internal Dimension | 0 |
| 4.2 | 2.1. Market | 0 |
| 4.2 | 2.2. Infrastructure | 2 |
| 4.2 | 2.3. Efficiency | 4 |
| 4.2 | 2.4. Renewable Energy | 6 |
| 4.3. | External Dimension | 57 |
| 4.3 | 3.1. In General | 57 |
| 4.3 | 3.2. Policy Towards Russia | 8 |
| 4.3 | 3.3. Policy Towards China | 1 |

| 5. 9 | Scenarios4 | 12 |
|--|--------------------------------------|----|
| 5.1 | . Scenario Logics4 | 12 |
| 5.2 | . Presenting the Background4 | 13 |
| 5.3 | . Scenario I: "The Perfect Market"4 | 15 |
| 5.4 | . Scenario II: "The New Great Game"4 | 17 |
| 6. 0 | Conclusion5 | 50 |
| 6.1 | . Implications5 | 50 |
| 6.2 | . Prospective Use5 | 52 |
| Bibliography | | |
| Reference List: Documents & Legislation54 | | |
| Reference List: Literature, Articles, Online Content57 | | |
| Additional Bibliography62 | | |

LIST OF FIGURES:

| Figure 1: EU Oil Imports by Country (Organization) | 9 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2: EU Gross Inland Energy Consumption by Fuel | 9 |
| Figure 3: EU Gas Imports by Country | 9 |
| Figure 4: Steps to Developing Scenarios according to P. Schwartz | 16 |
| Figure 5: The Scenario Funnel | 18 |
| Figure 6: Developing EESP Scenarios | 19 |
| Figure 7: Building Block - The Sources of Energy | 29 |
| Figure 8: Building Block - Market | 32 |
| Figure 9: Building Block - Infrastructure | 34 |
| Figure 10: Building Block – Energy Efficency | 35 |
| Figure 11: Building Block – Renewable Energy | 37 |
| Figure 12: Building Block – Policy towards Russia | 40 |
| Figure 13: Building Block – Policy towards China | 42 |
| Figure 14: Scenario Logics of EESP | 43 |
| Figure 15: World Primary Energy Demand by Scenario and Fuel (Mtoe) | 44 |
| Figure 16: IEA Crude Oil Import Price Assumption by Scenario (\$ per barrel in 2010 rt.) | 44 |
| Figure 17: Changes Compared to the Current Situation by Scenario (in %) | 45 |
| | |

ABBREVIATIONS

| ACER | Agency for the Cooperation of European Regulators | |
|-------|---|--|
| CCS | Carbon Capture and Storage | |
| CEP | Common Energy Policy | |
| CFSP | Common Foreign and Security Policy | |
| EEP | EU Energy Policy | |
| EEPR | European Energy Program for Recovery | |
| EESP | EU Energy Security Policy | |
| ENP | European Neighbourhood Policy | |
| ЕМР | Euro-Mediterranean Partnership | |
| EPE | Energy Policy for Europe | |
| ESP | Energy Security Policy | |
| EU | European Union | |
| IEA | International Energy Agency | |
| IR | International Relations | |
| MNC | Multinational Corporation | |
| NEEAP | National Energy Efficiency Action Plans | |
| OPEC | Organization of Oil Exporting Countries | |
| РСА | Partnership and Cooperation Agreement | |
| PES | Primary Energy Source | |
| RDS | Royal Dutch Shell | |
| RES | Renewable Energy Source | |
| TEN | Trans-European-Network | |
| ToL | Treaty of Lisbon | |

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. ENERGY SECURITY

"Energy is the life blood of our society" (European Commission 2010b, p.2), with this dramatic metaphor the European Commission opened its "Energy 2020: A strategy for competitive, sustainable and secure energy" Communication to the other European Union (EU) institutions. The paper continues by underlining that the current state of the EU energy policy (EEP) is insufficient and that certain goals need to be achieved until 2020 to keep the European society alive, if one chooses to stick to the metaphor. Although the concrete strategy proposals of this paper will be examined in more detail later, the opening is enough to demonstrate that at least the European Commission acknowledges the great challenges energy policy will pose for the Union and its member states in the next decade.

Certainly the most intriguing questions from an International Relations (IR) point of view all circle around the here lastly mentioned "secure energy" part (Youngs 2009, p.1). While "competitive energy" always comes down to price and "sustainable energy" to less harm for the environment, (energy) security has no such singular agenda. Hence, the definitions of energy security vary enormously (Sovacool 2011). Therefore an identification of this work's underlying understanding of energy security has to be the starting point. At first, one has to establish that the set of energy security definitions used by developing countries, which deal with energy security as an aspect of human security, although also highly relevant for the future of global security, won't play any role in the further discussion (Dannreuther 2010).¹ In the developed and industrialized world, a broad and often adopted definition of energy security is for example provided by the International Energy Agency, which defines it as: "the uninterrupted physical availability (of energy) at a price which is affordable, while respecting environment concerns" (IEA 2011). Curiously, this definition basically is composed of the same elements as the EU paper's title, except that "secure" is replaced by "uninterrupted physical availability". These confusing similarities stress the need for a definition which will be able to filter the changes in perspective if one wants to deal with security primarily, instead of all facets of energy policy more or less equally.

¹ For those definitions, further definitions and the concept of human security see also: Dannreuther (2010), Sovacool (2011), Owen (2010)

When the Commission for example specified energy security as "energy supply security", the strategy for security of supply was still accompanied by competiveness and sustainability (European Commission 2001, p. 2). Here again the explicit implication of the two other elements of energy policy leaves the sphere too wide open to reflect a truly special character of energy security, while reducing energy security to the supply side is in contrast too restrictive. Hence, one has to consider security studies approaches to find the required emphasis. A concept that suits this work's intention the most defines the state of energy security as following: "Energy security exists when there are energy sources large enough to meet the needs of the political community (the energy demands), which include all military, economic and societal activity. Those sources must be able to deliver such quantities of energy in a reliable and stable manner and for the foreseeable future. As soon as these conditions are not met, there exists a problem of energy (in)security (Raphael & Stokes 2010, p. 378)." In short, energy security policy (ESP) can from now on be understood as policy that serves the purpose of guaranteeing that the energy supply meets the optimal energy demand of the entity (here the EU). This concept finally has the advantage of looking at energy security emancipated from the other elements of energy policy and freed from the fundamental debate over the dominant pattern in energy security studies as both markets and geopolitics can achieve such energy security (Youngs 2009, pp. 6–10). Especially in the European context where the market approach has dominated energy security debates (Meidan 2008), the openness to geopolitics is crucial for the construction of this work's envisioned scenarios.

1.2. THE YEAR **2011**

Following the previously established understanding of energy security, a quick look upon the impact of decisive global events of 2011 shall not only validate the current interest in and importance of this topic, but simultaneously help to capture the Zeitgeist of energy security to introduce the underlying idea of this work. Here it is vital to consider the EU's energy mix and the EU's biggest supplying countries as two key statistics for energy security policies to be able to fully assess the impact of these events. In 2009 the gross inland energy consumption of the EU was basically based on three groups of resources (See Fig. 1): 77% represent the fossil fuels, 14% nuclear energy and only 9% the renewable energy sources

(RES).² Moreover 52% of this consumption was covered by imports (Market Observatory for Energy 2011, p. 5). Of course, the highest import rates were on oil with 83% and gas with 64% (Directorate General for Energy 2011a, p. 3). For its crude oil imports the EU basically relied on three sources (See Fig. 2): The OPEC with 35%, Russia with 33% and Norway with 15%. In the gas sector (See Fig. 3) 34 % were imported from Russia, 31% from Norway and 14% from Algeria. Additionally, Libya should be mentioned as it in 2007 provided ca. 10 % of oil imports and ca. 3 % of gas imports (European Commission 2010, p. 31).³







Source: Market Observatory for Energy 2011, p. 5





Source: Market Observatory for Energy 2011, p. 11

In 2011 several events may have changed all the figures above forever and thus created new challenges for the EU's energy security policy. Starting with the so called "Arab Spring", a term now popular to describe the series of uprisings and revolutions in the Middle-East (Gause 2011), the global economy was focusing on its effects on the oil price.⁴

²Most recent official EU data

³Most recent official EU data

⁴For a good overview of the events see for example: The Washington Post with Foreign Policy (2011)

In March oil prices were reaching almost three year highs and of course European politicians had to be concerned (Bloomberg 2011), because of their dependency on the OPEC. Although this time no new oil crisis struck, Europe has now to deal with new leaders stepping into power, which can always be a threat to the reliability of resources in the foreseeable future and thus Europeans were inevitably reminded of the fragile external dimension of ESP. The war in Libya, which saw the end of dictator Muhammad Gaddafi - a previously highly courted key supplier of oil (Time 2007) - just emphasized the urgency to act on the external dimension.

The political consequences of the nuclear catastrophe in Fukushima⁵ are in contrast a case where rather the internal (within the EU) dimension of ESP is challenged. With Germany's quick decision to return to its nuclear energy exit strategy,⁶ the second largest European nuclear energy producer and former exporter of it will in the next decade become more reliant on other resources to meet its energy demands. This constraint on a previously (to a large extent) independent energy source signals new challenges for internal European energy security policy (EESP) (Directorate General for Energy 2011a, p. 16). Especially regarding the different national positions on nuclear energy and renewable energy sources a new internal debate is inevitable. A last point that should be brought up is the European dept crisis, which is currently dominating EU policies in general and is vital to ESP as large economies like Italy and Spain are affected on the one hand as well as states like Greece, who are key geographic access points for external energy supplies.

Summing it up 2011 was a particularly formative year for the future of the internal and external sphere of EESP. It moreover proved that Thatcher's law: "The unexpected happens" (Yergin 2005, p. 63) continues to be the first law of this policy area. Above all, the events mentioned above were the inspiration for the scenario approach used in this thesis, instead of a predictive futurologist approach which is doomed to fail as 2011 demonstrated viciously.

1.3. THE APPROACH

After outlining understanding of energy security applied in this work and the main motive for this research, it is necessary to define the contours of the central research question and how it will be answered: "How can EU energy security policy look like in 2020?"

⁵For a good overview of the events see for example: BBC (2011)

⁶For a complete coverage of the new energy concept legislation see: Bundeskabinett (2011)

The chosen limit of 2020 has multiple reasons. First the EU has channeled its entire strategy towards 2020 and has set specific energy policy targets for 2020 (European Commission 2010a; Commission of the European Communities 2007). Second, 2020 will be the year where the new binding UN climate targets will come into force with the potential to change ESP on a global scale (The Observer 2011). Third, a longer time span would complicate the scenario approach even further as e.g. technological progress would need to be considered (Schröder & Tull 2008, pp. 7–8).

Some further clarifications putting the question in perspective need to be introduced. Due to the definition outlined above environmental and competition policy will not play an explicit role in this analysis. Relevant policies of those areas will be rearranged under the new definition of energy security as they are still integral parts of EESP (Geden & Fischer 2008, p. 10). The intention behind such an approach is to distill the "first-order" effects on energy security, while leavening the flood gates of "second-order" effects closed (Luft, Korin & Gupta 2011, p. 46).⁷ The second constraint is the focus on EU institutions and national governments as actors in the field of EESP. Hereby still meaning that in a review of EESP just the policy carried out by the institutions, primarily the EU Commission, and its treaty foundation is observed. The member states position towards institution driven policy needs to be included as they decisively control the policy process via intergovernmental bargaining (Nugent 2011, pp. 279-281). Consequently, national energy security policies is merely included to explain why EESP is heading a certain way, but not as an additional element to EU policy. Other actors like interest groups and companies will not be considered actors as for example the claim that the big Multinational Energy Corporations (MNCs) are equal players on this stage can be dismissed to a large extent, which supports the taken "black box" approach (Youngs 2009, pp. 156–158).⁸ Moreover, the concrete legal process behind EESP is reduced to the overriding principles as its elaboration is not in line with the narrative nature of the scenario approach.⁹ The instrument to deal with the research question will – as briefly mentioned - be a scenario approach, that will dictate the proceedings and findings of this work.

⁷ For approaches focusing as well on competition policy and environmental policy in the context of EU energy security see Dratwa et al. (2010) and respectively Buchan (2009).

⁸ Nationalized companies like Russia's Gazprom and Algeria's Sonatrach are explicitly mentioned as they are strictly acting on behalf of the government.

⁹ For an extensive analysis of the legal framework behind the EU energy policy see: Schneider (2010), Schulenberg (2009).

2. SCENARIO THEORY

2.1. ORIGINS OF THE MODERN SCENARIO METHOD AND ITS IMPLICATIONS

Thinking about the future and sharing ones` thoughts about the future has been a part of human existence since the old biblical and ancient Greek days (Minois & Moldenhauer 1998). In the first half of the 20th century science slowly began to engage in this process, first leaving the field to visionary creators of "Science *fiction*" like H.G. Wells, but then accelerating "to the lure of the millennial number of the year 2000" (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, p. xxv). With the work of the RAND cooperation in 1965, led by Herman Kahn, a new systematic scientific approach to look into the future by building upon real policy challenges, while still sustaining novelist elements without "falling between the stools of rigor and relevance" emerged (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 4–5).¹⁰

Although the *futures* are developed multidisciplinary, long-term, group based and describe the state of the world, principles of Kahn's study and the reasoning behind it serve well as the underlying theory for the here developed EU policy scenarios. First of all the whole study rests on the infinitely true acknowledgment that it is impossible to linearly predict the future (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, p. xxviii). Therefore following Kahn multiple futures need to be constructed, which by no means will or can realize or aspire to be complete, but help to understand the complex issue at hand and moreover can lead to better policy decisions (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 1–5). The devices to transport the multiple futures to the reader are scenarios, which are defined as following: "Scenarios are hypothetical sequences of events constructed for the purpose of focusing attention on causal processes and decision points" (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, p. 6). Later on in the chapter "The Use of Scenarios" the strength of scenarios, is described as following: "The scenario is particularly suited to dealing with events taken together - integrating several aspects of a situation more or less simultaneously" (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 262–264). The most important criterion for the validity of a scenario is its inner plausibility. Despite such elaborations, no single method to construct scenarios is presented. They are rather viewed as a supportive device following the methodological trend construction and the derived from future prognosis.

¹⁰For this thesis only the classic "Intuitive Logics" (Huss & Honton 1987, p.21) or "Genius Method" (Bishop, Hines & Collins 2007, pp. 11-12) for scenarios is considered, but of course other fairly useful methods exist. For a complete overview of scenario methods and when to use them see: Bishop, Hines & Collins (2007), Chermack, Lynham & Ruona (2001) and Huss & Honton (1987)

Nevertheless, a few things can still be taken away. A standard projection, following a linear development of the trends is accompanied by several projections following identified diverging directions (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 6–13). Noteworthy is the importance of history for providing a sense for the rate of change and the manifested Weltanschauung which together set a limit to utopist tendencies. However it is emphasized that this is a heuristic approach towards history, actively trying to withstand the persuasive nature of theories, which are hence obstacles and hurdles for the development of scenarios. In the end the omission of theories still cannot protect from a bias steaming from a human overvaluation of the moment and "crypto-historicism" meaning an unintended, but persistent bias (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 26-34). Further it is clear that the communication of the future posses great challenges. A distance from expert opinions and clear quantification is useful, yet at times sophisticated quantifications should not be left out. In each *alternative future* quantifications are only bets and do not allow probabilistic conclusions (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 34–39). The last important guideline is the emphasis on the clear presentation and interpretation of the interconnected elements, which here construct the basic trend (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967). In the end this multiple futures approach, although in detail different from the envisioned EESP scenarios, suits reasoning about the future of EESP in form of scenarios even in the short term very well, because of the complexity of this policy area, the pressing need for improved policy and at the same time the interdependence of all the elements. The scenarios will present *plausible* chains of events departing from the current constellation of concrete EESP elements, not implicitly defining trends, into several directions of a given interest. The focus will be on the dynamics of the envisioned future constellation. History plays a role in limiting too utopist scenarios, but does not create ultimate path dependencies. Hence, theories deriving from the past explaining the futures – like in this case European integration theories – need to be ignored. The support with concrete data prognosis is sometimes suitable to improve the communication, but rather constitutes a background and not a key finding. The intrinsic logic of such narratives on alternative futures is the number one priority (Bernstein et al. 2000, p. 54).

From a strictly logical perspective, the idea of scenarios is thus applicable on EESP, but still far bigger questions lure in the background regarding the legitimacy of the whole approach: Are scenarios a scientific method at all? Even in social sciences and in the field of

International Relations (IR)? The answers have to be yes. Scenarios are scientific if one thinks past the mantra of "la science pour la science" common in the social sciences. Such an understanding builds on the answer to the following question: "Can and may science remain silent where serious potential dangers connected with future developments are concerned (Polak 1971, p. 255)?" It cannot. Kahn, himself a social scientist, would certainly answer with yes regarding the second question. Yet it is obvious that some methodic openness is needed when social sciences want to contribute to the decision making process, something scenarios are supposed to do. "When applied to practical problems of decision-making the social sciences cannot ordinarily remain within conventional boundaries (Young 1968)." Regarding the use of scenarios in IR there are scholars like Hekki Patomäki, who recognize the need to deal with the future in form of scenarios to master future challenges (Patomäki 2008, pp. 24-31), but stick to social science theories in analyzing patterns of history and current trends, thus presenting a different understanding of scenarios and already eliminating the true explorative nature of the envisioned scenarios (Leander 2008, pp. 448– 451). Support for Kahnesque scenarios in IR presents a unique contribution called "International Relations and Policy Planning: The Method of Perspectivist Scenario Building" in which two scholars from the Norwegian Institute for International Affairs make a case for scenarios as the instrument for IR scholars to scientifically contribute to the policy planning process (Neumann & Overland 2004, p. 276). Proceeding from the fact that scenarios are actually developed in "traditional haunts of IR scholars" such as international organizations, they aimed to develop a scientifically accountable method for scenarios (Neumann & Overland 2004, p. 265). Never mind that the method, although also clearly rooted in the school of thought by Kahn is incompatible with this thesis (Neumann & Overland 2004, pp. 262–264), their work opens the door for this thesis in attempting to create explanatory scenarios, which can contribute to the policy planning process. In this way an adjacent second research question is: "Can the findings of scenarios contribute to the policy planning process?" To answer both question it still seems that an own practicable method needs to be derived from the business studies, which dominate the scenario methodology.

2.2. Scenario Method

Since the work of the Commission on the "Year 2000" scenarios have become more popular in business, because of the continuing failure of traditional forecasting methods. The first true elaborations on a method using the construction of scenarios were made by coryphée Pierre Wack of Royal Dutch Shell (RDS) in the 1970s and have since then manifested scenarios as a method for business planning (Huss & Honton 1987, p. 21). Scenarios in their conceptions remain "organic" and by far not mechanic, leaving the idea of a clear cut method behind early on (Wack 1985a, p. 74). The first generation scenarios started by identifying two uncertainties, assigning to both two possible developments and then combining the four developments of uncertainties into contrasting models of the future (scenarios). Those scenarios where called "explanatory" scenarios as they helped to understand the current situation, yet from Wack's perspective did not contribute enough to the decision making process (Wack 1985a, pp. 75–77). The crucial step to improve scenarios was a thorough analysis of the current problem to make the uncertainties more precise, by transforming previously uncertain elements into predetermined ones, making scenarios more feasible for the decision makers (Wack 1985a, pp. 80-84). Shell started creating building blocks for scenarios that combined predetermined factors and the uncertainties arising from them, which left only a certain variety to the building blocks depending on the explicitly chosen alternative future (Wack 1985a, pp. 87-89). Pierre Wack himself in "Shooting for rapids" sums up his results following such a method: "Scenarios structure the future into predetermined and uncertain elements. The foundation of decision scenarios lies in exploration and expansion of the predetermined elements: events already in the pipeline whose consequences have yet to unfold, interdependencies within the system (surprises often arise from interconnectedness), breaks in trends, or the impossible" (Wack 1985b, p. 140). The identification of the events "already in the pipeline", the "rapids", is actually accurate forecasting and comprehensibly very important for a multibillion decision process in a global company, but is impossible and unnecessary for the designated adjusted explanatory scenarios. In the case of EESP the need for predetermined elements is in such sense only necessary, as to formulate logic premises to eliminate over bounding uncertainty. The real lesson from the RDS approach is that the detailed identification of the policy area (its building blocks), as EESP is not defined by the EU, must have the upmost priority to even lay down uncertainties, relations between key factors, premises and the futures of interest.

Even though many elements and principles of scenarios should be clear by now, it is still vital to consider a scenario method with a "recognizable process" (Schwartz 1991, p. 26), which although being rooted in business studies, will - with a few adjustments - be the road to travel for the EESP scenarios. Peter Schwartz, who worked closely with Pierre Wack and is the President of the Global Business Network - a world leading futurist's think tank- has formulated eight steps to follow when developing scenarios (See Fig. 4).

Figure 4: Steps to Developing Scenarios according to P. Schwartz

| 1. Identify Focal Issue or Decision |
|--|
| 2. Key Forces in the local Environment |
| 3. Driving Forces |
| 4. Rank by Importance and Uncertainty |
| 5. Selecting Scenario Logics |
| 6. Fleshing Out the Scenarios |
| 7. Implications |
| 8. Selecting of Leading Indicators and Signposts |

Sources: Schwartz 1991, pp. 241–248

The first step is the identification of the central question behind the scenario project. In business this often means a decision on a certain project, but can also go as far as "How the world may look like in Year xxyy?" This step can be directly rephrased into "Identify Research Question".

The second step in Schwartz's logic of scenario development is basically the identification of the factors influencing the decision. Step three takes up the key factors to ask what forces are "behind" them and at the same time establishes what about the factors is uncertain or predetermined (Schwartz 1991, p. 242). Those two steps need to be reconsidered for the adjusted method. As the research question asks how the policy can look like, it is necessary to identify the components of the policy, becoming *building blocks*, meaning a key factor that is driven by forces. Thus pursuing the research question the key interest is how the building blocks can look like in the future, meaning that the uncertainties of the overall development of building blocks are relevant and not the underlying fundamental uncertainties of the drivers. This is the fundamental simplification for this new scenario approach, because the uncertainty of the building blocks normally derives from the

uncertain driving forces. Now the former supersedes the latter, with the latter simply expected to fall in line. The necessity for such a rethinking derives from the primary interest in the absolute potential of the policy to create energy security as opposed to the interest in the global uncertainties of the future. The driving forces become a background, which is no matter important to complete the scenarios. In addition, a clear separation of all the terminology would have been almost impossible (Schwartz 1991, pp. 108–109) and the predetermination in Schwartz's sense was already excluded. As a result Step 2 in the new approach is to identify the sub policies of this area as different building blocks. In Step 3 the dynamics are analyzed and here from concisely the spectrum of uncertainty is depicted.

The fourth step, the rankings, can be immediately left out as such a ranking is purely relevant for decision makers to whom a number of decision scenarios are presented. The next step, the selection of scenario logics, can be considered the heart and soul of each scenario process and is the same in the new method, yet the execution is different. Schwartz considers this the quest for the "fundamental axes of crucial uncertainties", wherefore the ranking would have been a precluding step (Schwartz 1991, p. 244). Normally a set of "scenario drivers" is allocated in a matrix, and the logic depends on the field in the matrix. In standard cases four scenarios evolve as a result of two scenario drivers with two variations, however sometimes far more drivers are included and very complex cross-impact-matrixes are unavoidable (Wilkinson 1995, p. 3; Schröder & Tull 2008, p. 42). In the adopted scenario method, being compromised to an individual's work, such extensive methods are on the one hand hard to realize due to limited resources and on the other hand dangerous because of a high subjectivism regarding the selection of single drivers or the selection of single scenarios to present. Therefore, a one axis approach is a viable solution. The one axis can thus be only on an omniinclusive driver. Regarding such a driver for the building blocks, one should refer back to the "Year 2000" and establish an axis representing the quality of the state of affairs of the object. In the "Year 2000" it's the state of the world, which in a base scenario is projected to be "surprise free", whereas the other scenarios orientate themselves along the lines of a more positive or negative development, peace or war (Kahn, Wiener & Bell 1967, pp. 7–9). Hence without forestalling too much the axis in the EESP scenarios has to be the success of EESP, which is directly represented by more or less energy security.¹¹

¹¹Energy security as a complete construct is at no point quantified, it is strictly only qualitatively assessed, meaning if the definition is met better or worse following logical assessments. The reasons are manifold. The

Applying this logic means that the building blocks including their implied drivers will move synchronic along the lines of contributing the same, more or less to energy security. Figure 5 visualizes this logic using a popular motive for the general understanding of scenarios, the funnel (Schröder & Tull 2008, p. 9; Simonini 2009, p. 30). Starting from the status quo, a funnel representing the increasing uncertainty develops over time. At the end of the period a spectrum of possible situations emerges. This spectrum is the one axis, ranging from the best possible to the worst possible future state (here from the highest energy security to the lowest energy security).





Source: Schröder & Tull 2008, p. 9; Antin 2011

Step 6 is the actual writing of the scenario, the weaving together of the pieces into one narrative and can be directly integrated in the specific approach. Events and even persons need to be included to make the end point of the scenarios more plausible (Schwartz 1991, p. 245). If additional reliable prognoses corresponding to the background of scenario logic exist, they might be as well integrated to fill the gap created by the omission of driver projections. The last step that needs to be considered is the formulation of implications, which is synonymous for a conclusion and thus is a necessity in the new approach as well. Step 8 of Schwartz's approach can be completely ignored as it is only relevant in a professional environment.

Finally, a concrete and complete method for EESP scenarios (and similar policy areas) is established, but its explicit step by step presentation served merely the purpose of clarifying the thinking process. The execution in the framework of this thesis is more compromised.

main reasons are the unquantifiable nature of policy impact and the antithetic nature of such a metric approach compared to the "Intuitive Logics" scenario method. For quantized assessments and methods on energy security see: Sovacool & Brown (2011), Cherp & Jewell (2011), Kruyt et al. (2011)

After the historical review, which does demonstrate the applied understanding of EESP (a link from Step 1 to Step 2), the state of affairs of EESP is presented in a building block by building block manner, with the dynamics and uncertain developments integrated (Steps 2 & 3). However, before writing the scenarios outright, the scenario logic and an additional background - combining Kahn's idea of useful quantifications and a little bit Wack's idea of predetermines - is presented to add more *flesh* (Steps 4 & 5). The conclusion of the thesis, making a case for the potential contribution of EESP scenarios (and scenarios in general) to a successful policy planning process, is based on the implications arising from the scenarios (Step 6).

Figure 6: Developing EESP Scenarios

| | 1. Identify Research Question |
|---------|--|
| | 2. Identify Building Blocks |
| 3. Dyna | amics & Uncertainties of Building Blocks |
| 4. | Selecting a one axis scenario logic |
| | 5. Fleshing Out the Scenarios |
| | 6. Implications |
| | |

Source: Antin 2011

3. EU ENERGY SECURITY POLICY

3.1. THE PAST (1952-2000)

Looking back on energy security policy in the EU is obstructed by the lack of such concrete policy. By "concrete" meaning, that the EU has had only limited official authority in this field (Buchan 2010, p. 368), and simultaneously by far not meaning that "policy" is merely understood as applied legislation, because it is here explicitly important to include the course of action regarding present (e.g. proposals) and future decisions (e.g. goal setting) to fully understand the dynamics (Schulenberg 2009, p. 23). Accordingly, one has to study the broad field of energy policy and consistently identify the policy, which was directed at creating energy security in the here applied definition, even if it is not actively considered energy security policy by the actors. Here for policy that affects energy security as a byproduct, by virtue of a string of inherited causalities in the field of energy policy like the prominent Emission Trading Scheme (Buchan 2011), will be ignored as much as possible.

Under this juxtaposition it is truly paradox that ESP can be seen as one starting point of European integration. Jean Monnet identified the European need for reliable German coal supplies as the most logical incentive for European integration, by which he of coursed aimed at creating lasting European peace (Matlary 1997, p. 14). Although later the policy of the ECSC's High Authority and of those member states participating in the ECSC by no means can be viewed as ESP, its founding has been the birth of the idea of EESP. In 1957 the French-driven creation of the in its authority limited European Atomic Energy Community (EURATOM) can at least be seen as an attempt to deal with one single aspect of European energy security (Matlary 1997, p. 19). In 1972 the Commission, indicating its aspirations for the leading role in ESP, pointed out: "The main problem for the Community in the field of energy lies in maintaining a regular, stable supply which will meet the demand in terms of both quality and quantity" (Commission of the European Communities 1972, p. 8). The oil crisis still hit the Community unprepared and caused an outsourcing of the whole problematic to the American-led IEA (Kurze 2009, p. 17), which became responsible for the establishment and managing of oil stocks (Martin & Harrje 2005).¹² Under the impression of the embargo by the Arab states the commission for the first time issued two documents, which included precise strategic proposals and timelines for energy security policy.

¹²For a thorough history of oil in global politics see: Yergin (2009)

Being congruent with the applied definition of energy security, the Commission set out goals for both the supply and demand side, in which it basically defined the future energy mix and the efficient use of it (Commission of the European Communities 1974). The second communication renewed those goals up to the year 1990 (Commission of the European Communities 1979), but those goals have never been fulfilled (Schneider 2010, p. 29).

Proclaimed as the "turning point" for energy policy (Matlary 1997, p. 19), the signing of the Single European Act in 1986 had of course consequences for energy security policy as it introduced the quality majority voting (QMV) to the Council, environmental policy to the European law practice and the idea of the internal energy market (IEM) (European Communities 1987). This has marked the birth of the original EU method of ESP: addressing and (tying it) through environmental and market policy. Empowered by the Treaty of the European Union in 1992, the Commission pursued a Common Energy Policy (CEP), which would have included security of supply as one of three pillars (Commission of the European Communities 1994, p. 21). But the CEP has never been approved due to the resistance of some member states. At least the Maastricht Treaty introduced the admittedly weak "Trans-European Network (TEN)" program in which energy infrastructure, a critical area for energy security, was included from the get go (Fischer 2011, p. 48). Hitherto the CEP failure has been the most obvious signal that energy policy and even more so energy security is one of the policy sectors mostly resistant against integration. The Treaty of Amsterdam in 1999 finally did not include any form of CEP, instead it further enhanced the EU's responsibility on environmental policy (Geden & Fischer 2008, p. 29) as a reaction to the Kyoto protocol of 1997. In the end of this period it become clear the member states were clinging onto energy security policy as a "national imperative" (Fischer 2011, p. 48), despite extending the more favorable European framework. The Commission certainly had more ambitious plans, but as result was left with environmental policy and market policy as means to address energy security. Thus until 2000, an EU energy security policy remained an illusion or rudimental at best as outlined here.

3.2. THE LAST DECADE (2000-2010)¹³

A new chapter in EESP was opened with the Green Paper "Towards a European strategy for the security of supply". The Green paper calls the EU a "Gulliver in Chains" (European Commission 2001, p. 22), referring to its limited room to maneuver compared to its power and calls for a "legislative framework for the priorities of future policies on energy efficiency and renewable energy sources (demand-side management)" (European Commission 2001, p. 57). However the Commission remains very straight forward referring to renewable energy: "Let us be realistic: promoting such forms of energy cannot be the only response to the complex problems raised by security of supply (European Commission 2001, p. 63)." The EU should remain open minded about all sources of energy as especially nuclear energy provides security of supply and a positive contribution to the ambitions environmental goals of the EU. Besides that the external dimension is not lost out of sight: "The development of a long term energy partnership with key suppliers such as Russia is therefore essential (European Commission 2001, p. 41)." All in all this paper is so hugely important, because it for the first times captures the EU's need for a more complex policy besides the common market facing an increasingly difficult future.

Following this paper the Commission sent out a communication with the title "The internal market in energy: Coordinated measures on the security of energy supply" (Commission of the European Communities 2002), which addressed fundamental issues like the need for a common infrastructure policy and proposed directives for minimum oil and gas stocks all to be realized in a common market. Nevertheless, the Treaty of Nice, which came into force in 2003, did not include any new legislation relevant for ESP (Geden & Fischer 2008, p. 29). Furthermore, a chance to manifest energy security in the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP) was missed, as the 2003 European Security Strategy only mentioned the high European energy dependence as a challenge (European Union 2003, p. 5), but did not further elaborate on it as a key threat thus giving evidence to the halfhearted energy security policy of the EU.

¹³Because the purpose of this section is to solely introduce the components, which have defined EESP in the last decade a certain level of abstraction is appropriate. Therefore concrete directives and regulations, covering singular issues will be excluded at this stage. Relevant directives and regulations will be presented in the next chapter. This is especially advantages as during the decade many earlier directives and regulations were already superseded. For an overview over the old legislation see: Mükusch (2011). Moreover all (few) initiatives on the external agenda will be discussed in the next chapter as well, because an extra introductive part is inevitable.

With the 2004 enlargement of the EU to 25 states the dualism of the at best weak EU market orientated energy security policy and reserved national energy security policy superiority, began to change. For the new Eastern member states energy security was an already far more pressing concern and posed specific challenges (Inotai 2008, pp. 21–22). The post-enlargement stalemates in the whole integration process led to the March 2005 EU summit at Hampton Court (UK) during which European energy policy curiously emerged as a possible engine to restart the integration process (Fischer 2011, p. 89). The Summit concluded that the President of the Commission, José Manuel Barroso, should draft a new EU energy policy concept (Geden, Marcelis & Maurer 2006, pp. 10–11). Soon after, energy security rapidly took center stage and accelerated European energy policy. The much discussed Russian-Ukrainian gas conflict "catapulted energy security to the forefront of the EU agenda" (Baran 2007, p. 132). Obviously, under this impression the Commission in March 2006 presented its Green Paper with the title "A European Strategy for Sustainable, Competitive and Secure Energy" (Commission of the European Communities 2006a), building on the 2000 Green Paper.

Of the six key areas of common energy policy four are addressing energy security issues at the forefront (Commission of the European Communities 2006a, pp. 18–19). Once again the creation of a strong common market played the key role, but after that the diversification of PES, a stronger technology policy and a significant external policy followed. The European Council approved the general idea and surprisingly even the external dimension of energy security policy remained included (Youngs 2009, p. 24). It is also worth mentioning that Poland issued a treaty draft solely focusing on energy security policy, labeled the "energy NATO", which was not further discussed (Wycieszkiewicz 2009, p. 19).

The long anticipated review unambiguously named "An Energy Policy for Europe" took further steps by bringing in new details and proposing binding overall goals (Commission of the European Communities 2007). The three 20% targets for 2020 became the most marquee points for the future of ESP. The first target was the "in any event" reduction of greenhouse emissions by 20% (compared to 1990) until 2020 (Commission of the European Communities 2007, p. 5). The second target emerged from the previously issued Energy Efficiency Action Plan and carried the provision to reduce the primary energy use by 20% (Commission of the European Communities 2007, p. 11). Lastly, the "truly ambitious" goal to increase the share of renewable energy up to 20% of the EU's overall energy mix was

introduced (Commission of the European Communities 2007, p. 13). The emission reduction influences above all the overall energy security strategy by making it accountable to this new qualitative standard (representing climate change) in addition to the quantitative availability of any resource. Potentially, the reduction of primary energy consumption is the most favorable instrument to EU energy security as it would simply decrease the demand for energy, making efficiency a priority for energy security policy. Increasing the indigenous share of renewable energy favors the general EU preference for reducing the external dimension of energy security policy. On behalf of the German presidency of the European Council in 2007, which selected energy security and climate policy as two of the top priorities on its agenda (Umbach 2008, p. 4), the Commission's efforts were immediately taken up by the European Council. Although integrated with climate policy, the Council's Action Plan with the title "Energy Policy for Europe (EPE)" was the hitherto biggest contribution to a common energy policy (Fischer 2011, p. 94). The Council confirmed a handful of infrastructural priority programs, which should be led by European coordinators (Council of the European Union 2007). It modified the 20% efficiency goal to a 20% reduction compared to the projection, but beyond called for a "thorough and rapid implementation" of further efficiency goals (Council of the European Union 2007, p. 20). Furthermore, the last of the 20/20/20 goals, the increase of renewable energy up to 20%, was declared a "binding" target (Council of the European Union 2007, p. 21). Building on the Action Plan the Commission initiated the "Third package of internal market reform" to finally solve the problem of natural monopolies (Buchan 2009, p. 21). The "cardinal improvement" (Baumann 2010, p. 82) of the "Second Strategic Energy Review" has been the demonstrated understanding of the various facets of energy security as it lists infrastructural needs, the diversification of energy supplies, external energy relations, oil and gas stocks as crisis response mechanisms, energy efficiency and making the best use of the EU's indigenous energy resources as necessities (Commission of the European Communities 2008b).

The climax for energy policy came when the Treaty of Lisbon (ToL) finally stepped into force and an own article on energy policy was included. Now, energy policy had a primary law foundation in the EU and above all security of supply officially became a competence of the EU (Fischer 2009, p. 50), emancipating itself from the previously described camouflaging of ESP in environmental and competition policy. In fact the new Energy Article (European Union 2010, Title XXI, Art. 194) names nearly all elements of good energy security policy, although

they are listed as objectives of energy policy: ensuring the functioning of the energy market, ensuring security of supply in the Union, promoting energy efficiency and energy saving and the development of new and renewable forms of energy and promote the interconnection of energy networks (European Union 2010). By including the security of supply complex and the generic promotion of EU foreign policy, the ToL also supports the notion of an EU foreign policy on energy security issues. The treaty also foresees the QMV between Council and EP to introduce the necessary measures to achieve these objectives. Another article worth mentioning in the context of energy security is Article 122, which falls under economic policy, but is indispensible regarding the new groundwork of EESP. Based on the principle of solidarity the Council may take economic measures to help member states,"...in particular if severe difficulties arise in the supply of certain products, notably in the area of energy" (European Union 2010, Title VIII, Chap. 1, Art. 122(1)). This article is not only a result of the immense energy security concerns of the Eastern European states, but it also includes a sense of increased energy insecurity in the treaty. However, the "change of direction" (Fischer 2009, p. 54) in ESP is by far not an unconditional transfer of this policy area to the supranational level. The member states installed two fundamental opt outs rendering future EESP unpredictable. In the Energy Article itself it is formally expressed that all the measures taken should by no means affect the member states individual decision regarding their respective energy mix (European Union 2010, Title XXI, Art. 194 (2)). Even worse for the outlook of EESP, declaration no. 35 in the annex to the treaty states that in case of a very broadly defined internal or external difficulties member states can return to their own ESPs (European Union 2010). Both of these additions pose serious questions regarding the real EESP as the backdoor remains wide open for the member states to fall back for instance on bilateral agreements with supplying third party nations. Exactly such a discrepancy between the here outlined policies by the EU and the current ESP of the member states is something the next part will discuss in the critical building blocks of EESP, which taken from the past are finally possible to identify. The building blocks basically present the historically developed main components of EESP in a structured way according to the scenario method. The first building block presents the fundamental alignment towards the PES, then three blocks deal with the internal dimension (market, infrastructure, renewable energy & efficiency) and last following a brief introduction the divided external dimension (policy towards Russia and policy towards China) will be analyzed.

4. THE "STATE OF AFFAIRS" OF EESP¹⁴

4.1. THE SOURCES OF ENERGY

Obviously there is no independent policy on PESs, but there are principles involved regarding the use of those, which need to be considered as a building block of EESP. Four different PESs (renewable energy is discussed separately) are highly critical for the energy security of the EU. As presented in the introduction these sources are: Oil, gas, nuclear energy and coal. Oil is the most important primary energy source for the EU and at the same time the EU meets its oil demand almost exclusively with imports (see introduction). The importance of oil stems from its leading role in the transport sector and the industry. Substitutes for oil in the transportation sector are still decades away from being perfect substitutes and the same case can be made for substitutes in industry (International Energy Agency 2011, pp. 13–15). The oil crisis of the 1970s has been practically the birth of energy security policy. Securing the physical availability is however not the priority, because oil is imported through a more flexible infrastructure than gas and is (almost) always available on the global market (Goldthau & Geden 2007, p. 61).¹⁵ Yet availability does not equal affordability, which is the key restrain for EESP. From a certain oil price on it is simply unsustainable for the economies to purchase oil (Pascual & Zambetakis 2010, pp. 9–17). The EU has absolutely no instrument to control the oil price directly, thus EU energy security policy consists of increasing the efficiency of oil use, promoting bio fuels, strengthening the EU relationship towards oil producing nations to decrease price volatility and, to a lesser extent, the diversification of transit routes to marginalize price increasing risks such as the Russian-Belarus oil dispute (Comolli 2010, pp. 180–189).¹⁶ Nonetheless, the only developed energy security instrument is the creation and management of strategic stocks to bridge oil price hicks. Actually the EC already in 1968 had passed legislation to establish such stocks, but they were neglectable as the IEA became the de facto highest authority on this matter and further EU legislation was highly disputed throughout the years (Fischer 2011, pp. 109–114). In the end a new directive was passed in 2009, which included minimal stock guidelines, emergency mechanisms and a

¹⁴Energy technology policy is not considered explicitly, as its short- to midterm effect on energy security is impossible to assess. For an overview on EU energy technology policy see: International Energy Agency (2008, pp. 183–198)

¹⁵The peak oil theory can be ignored as the focus is on the next 10 years as for instance the German Federal Institute for Geosciences predicts effects of peak oil from 2025 on Müller-Kraenner (2008, p. 4).

¹⁶Those policy elements are discussed in the specific sections.

strict reporting mechanism (Council of the European Union 2009). All in all good energy security policy on oil is very difficult, because the need is so big and the alternatives are limited. Oil will remain a fixture of energy insecurity around which the rest of EU energy security policy will have to try to create overall security (International Energy Agency 2008, pp. 179–180), yet the degree of insecurity is dictated by the global oil price. The last notice to be made is that there is no inherent conflict line between the member states and/or the EU institutions regarding the use of oil.

Gas differs from oil as it is mostly used to produce heat and increasingly to generate electricity (International Energy Agency 2008, pp. 177–178). Moreover gas can indeed be physically unavailable as witnessed during the most recent gas conflict between Russia and the Ukraine in 2009 (The Guardian 2011), because the huge majority of all gas imports are transported through single pipelines connecting the few gas producers with the many consumers (Pollak, Slominski & Schubert 2010, p. 50). If a producer decides to stop its gas supply, then there is often no alternative route to take for the consumers. Liquid Natural Gas (LNG) is the one flexible option for gas supplies, but currently the infrastructure is very expensive and the availability is limited (Mükusch 2011, p. 72). Price volatility is in comparison to oil a marginal factor for gas energy security, because prices are set in regional markets, the spot market is small and normally long-term contracts between companies dominate the market (Mükusch 2011, pp. 58–68), which in total makes the diversification of sources in the near future the number one priority.¹⁷ Here diversification does not only cover the access to other gas exporting nations, but also the diversification of transit routes through different nations is vital (Geden, Marcelis & Maurer 2006, p. 19). Though under the impression of the aforementioned gas crisis the focus of the in 2010 passed massive regulation was on emergency mechanisms and prevention in case of similar crisis. In 17 articles the regulation covers everything from the internal gas market and preventive actions, to emergency mechanisms in the spirit of solidarity and regulations for gas undertakings with third party nations (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2010b). This regulation is a true milestone in the energy security policy of the EU stressing the leading part gas will have in the future of all facets of EU energy security policy until 2020 and beyond (European Commission 2010b, pp. 10-11).

¹⁷In general gas prices are however oil-indexed, thus if the EU liberalizes the market successfully it is possible that prices will be a factor of insecurity similar to oil, but it is also possible that with the market liberalization the oil-indexation is lifted creating harmless price level International Energy Agency (2001, pp. 16–17).

The main difference to oil is that the great insecurities associated with the supply of gas are relatively solvable by policy, owning to the huge global reserves (e.g. shale gas) and more regional character of the market (BP 2011, pp. 20–28). In addition, gas is absolutely in line with the environmental policy of the EU (Böhme 2011, pp. 50–52). The reason why EU energy security policy on gas is still hard to project is that despite the clear EU preference for such policy there is an evident discrepancy between the EU agenda and the policy preference of several member states based on the role gas plays in the respective energy mix, the indigenous gas reserves, location of the member state and historical development. According to Baumann & Simmerl there are different "energy regions" in the European Union (Baumann & Simmerl 2011, p. 15). In case of gas supply the Northern/Central and Western European regions have the preference for national policy on gas relying on different trusted suppliers, whereas the Central/Eastern and Adriatic/South Eastern European regions have a preference for a strong EU policy, which all together explains the ambiguity of the ToL on the topic. Considering the nature of gas and the policy on it one has to definitely tie future overall energy security policy tightly to the development of gas policy.

The last two sources of primary energy to discuss are nuclear energy and coal (hard and brown coal). Although those two resources are totally different from each other in their physical nature, they play almost the same role in the context of the EU and EESP. Both sources make up almost the same proportion of the gross consumption (see introduction) and both sources are primarily used for electricity generation with nuclear energy making up 27.8% and coal 25.7% (Directorate General for Energy 2011a, p. 3). Coal as well as nuclear energy does not pose problems of availability, although coal has an import rate of over 40% and uranium is strictly imported. The reason is the reliability of the supplying nations. Uranium is imported from mainly Canada and Australia coal from Australia, the USA, the RSA and only one quarter from Russia (Pollak, Slominski & Schubert 2010, pp. 44, 156). For what is more, for both sources price volatility is limited and infrastructure does not play the central role regarding the physical availability. In relative terms (to oil and gas) the EU also has all large coal reserves and uranium is needed in only small quantities, which at the first glance from a strict energy security point of view makes the two resources preferable for the future energy mix (International Energy Agency 2008, pp. 65-66). Yet, despite all those convincing arguments those two sources remain currently on the edge of EESP for specific reasons.

The first reason is that the two resources lack the imminent external energy insecurity of gas and oil as described above, to a large extent because demand is diminishing. Coal is a very dirty energy source substantially infringing the overall EU environmental agenda and in particular the 20% greenhouse gas emission reduction goal set by the EU, seemingly making it a resource of the past for the EU (International Energy Agency 2008, pp. 178–179). Nevertheless, most notably Poland covers over 50% of its primary energy consumption with domestic coal and even exports coal (Fischer 2011, pp. 76–82). Nuclear energy on its part is met with fundamental resentments in member states like Germany. This "German Angst" in 2011 (Umbach 2011, p. 174) led to the decision to step by step phase out all nuclear power plants. Here France takes an opposing approach with a traditionally strong stance on nuclear energy (Geden, Marcelis & Maurer 2006, p. 7). Thus the second reason for the diminished role of these sources in EESP is that the member states have such strong opposing national preferences for the two sources that the decision on the use of the resources is made on a national basis. It is clear that the prolonged use of both could ease EESP, in particular if one considers that nuclear energy is highly compatible with the environmental policy of the EU (Commission of the European Communities 2008b, p. 15). Directly tackling the issues regarding the future of both resources the Commission has therefore constantly pushed for openness to nuclear energy (having the managing EURATOM in place) and the development of Carbone Capture & Storage (CCS) technology, which is always included in the major technology programs (European Commission 2010b, p. 15). Finally, nuclear energy and coal should be watched closely regarding the future of the EESP on account of their potential renaissance on the EU level, strengthening the EU approach, or the continuing reign of national policies signaling the dominance of national energy security policy.

| rice? | |
|--------------------------------|---|
| | Functioning of the crisis mechanisms? |
| ENERGY SOURCES | |
| Diversification of gas supply? | Future of nuclear energy and coal? |
| LNG? | EU vs. energy regions vs. member states |

Figure 7: Building Block - The Sources of Energy

Source: Antin 2011

4.2. THE INTERNAL DIMENSION

4.2.1. MARKET

Since the Single European Act the liberalization of the internal market has taken center stage in EEP. Certainly the main reason lies in the congruency of a common energy market with the principles of European integration and the rich competences the Commission carries in this aspect (Buchan 2010, pp. 361-364). Curiously, it has also always been argued that market liberalization is a decisive form of ESP (Commission of the European Communities 2007, p. 6). This connection is not trivial and should thus be examined carefully. First of all, when the EU discusses the internal energy market (IEM) it focuses strictly on the gas and electricity market (Truscott 2009, p. 54). The electricity market is somewhat difficult to assess from an energy security point of view, because electricity is a secondary energy source, thus being dependent on the supply of different PES. Consequently, energy insecurity issues associated with the product electricity are solely infrastructural (Checchi, Behrens & Egenhofer 2009, pp. 35–36) and in principal helped the same way by market liberalization as similar issues with gas, which are far more important (International Energy Agency 2002, pp. 11–12). A liberalized internal market has several benefits to energy security. The EU formulates those benefits for security of supply as follows: "An effectively functioning and competitive Internal Energy Market can provide major advantages in terms of security of supply and high standards of public service. The effective separation of networks from the competitive parts of the electricity and gas business results in real incentives for companies to invest in new infrastructure, inter-connection capacity and new generation capacity, thereby avoiding black-outs and unnecessary price surges. A true single market promotes diversity (Commission of the European Communities 2007, p. 6)." Investments in infrastructure are badly needed to sustain the reliability of supply (European Commission 2011c, pp. 10–14), but the interconnection capacity goes beyond that. The idea is that in a liberalized market transnational companies invest in such interconnectors and as a result the market directs supply to member states for example affected by another gas dispute (Goldthau & Geden 2007, pp. 70–71). The market can work as an automatic crisis mechanism partially eliminating insecurity. This kind of diversification of sources is regardless of the level of infrastructure only possible if enough gas is traded on the spot market, which today is not the case. The limited amount of gas traded on the open market stems from the normally long term restrictive bilateral deals between European MNCs and national energy giants like Gazprom (Böhme 2011, pp. 76-80). Here from the importance of the liberalized market arises as external EESP as the EU tries to "export" the created market mechanisms to producing states to break up the bilateral and often political nature of gas supplies, leaving security of supply to the market alone (Pollak, Slominski & Schubert 2010, pp. 143–146). Although the development of the market throughout the decades was the area where most of the legislation was passed, the EU was not pleased at all with the progress (European Commission 2010b, p. 3). The third legislation package on the internal market should have eliminated the deficit. The package, including three regulations and two directives, reinforced measures to create an internal market. The central objective on the gas market was the unbundling of the vertically integrated energy giants to generate more competition and the supervision of the internal market in general (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009d; European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009c). Especially the founding of the Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER) points to the high pressure applied by the EU regarding the internal market. In sum the internal market is on a good way to fully develop until 2020, however skepticism is still appropriate regarding the future of the market itself and the role it will play for energy security. Of course the most obvious hurdle is the question whether the policy is executed in the member states, but the liberalization is so progressed that a simple non compliance is impossible, as even the German energy giants engaged in unbundling (Fischer 2011, p. 179). Skepticism rests on the fact on how to deal with third country companies like again Gazprom in an open market (Handelsblatt 2007). Directive 2009/73/EC included an article popularly termed the "Gazprom clause" (Euractiv 2007), demanding a strict supervision process of third-country investments in infrastructure at the end of which the national regulatory agency "shall take utmost account of the Commission's opinion", energy security infringing investments remain possible (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009c, p. 108). It is in particular interesting that bilateral deals could eventually burry all benefits the market could generate, by allowing third-nation players to aspire dominant market positions, which would only decrease energy security. Considering Germany's decision to gradually shut down its nuclear energy production, the need for investment and e.g. the interest of Gazprom may be high enough to allow such investment (sueddeutsche.de 2011). In the end the liberalized market has the potential to be a twoedged sword, which could in a best case scenario contribute extensively to energy security

under certain circumstances or at worst increase massively insecurity by liberalizing just enough so that third-country companies aspire dominant position and the incentives for investments in infrastructure are reduced, because of the unbundling.





Source: Antin 2011

4.2.2. INFRASTRUCTURE

Very closely related to the market policy is the infrastructure policy as infrastructure is the backbone of a market. Hence all the above mentioned market policy depends on infrastructure policy or starts with it like the proposed unbundling to stimulate transnational competition (European Commission 2011c, p. 2). Yet, the impact of infrastructure policy certainly goes beyond the groundwork for market liberalization and its potential benefits for energy security. By virtue of infrastructure policy the EU can in its own right increase energy security. Infrastructure policy on electricity networks, gas networks, LNG terminals, oil supply and CCS capacities promotes diversification of sources, increases reliability, solves short time supply shortages, empowers the supply with renewable energy and increases energy efficiency (European Commission 2010c, pp. 6–7). Two forms of infrastructure policy exist in the EU: the standard passing of legislation to promote infrastructure development and the direct support of projects. The former has been on the radar since the Green Paper of 2000 and culminated in the previously elaborated legislative package. Besides, the ACER regulation No. 714 included the creation of the ENTSO-Gas and ENTSO-Electricity, which together with the ACER became responsible for the supervision of infrastructure developments, took the role as adviser on infrastructure and got the duty to carry out plans on the future infrastructure (Pollak, Slominski & Schubert 2010, pp. 125-127). Those institutions can obviously be seen as a preemptive step for a true EU regulation agency (Fischer 2011, p. 180). The field of direct measures regarding projects is highly controversial. Beginning with the small TEN-E program over the singling out of certain projects in the EAP to the "European Energy Program for Recovery (EEPR)" the EU has proceeded to give priority to projects critical for the energy security (International Energy Agency 2008, pp. 81-83). The EU thereby takes a clear stance by politically advocating the projects and contributing financially. The in total almost 4 billion Euros heavy EEPR with the majority of the amount going to the gas sector addressed projects, which have the potential to increase energy security in the several outlined ways (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009b), but it also revealed the reality of EU infrastructure policy. During the bargaining process some member states like Germany and the Netherlands were very skeptical of the involvement of EU funding in infrastructure projects, because they argued that such projects remain a strict responsibility of energy companies (Fischer 2011, p. 151). It is fair to argue that those member states normally support their national energy giants as witnessed in case of the Nord Stream pipeline (Umbach 2008, p. 7), reflecting the double standard used to minimize EU involvement in this sensitive aspect of energy security strategy. The true weakness of EU infrastructure policy is probably reflected in the Nabucco project about which the former EU Commissioner Andris Piebalgs said: "Nabucco is more than just a pipeline; it is the embodiment of the existence of a common European energy policy (Youngs 2009, p. 109)." Since day one Nabucco was supported by the EU and was for instance awarded the highest single funding in the EEPR, but has until today failed to gain real support from some member states (Erdogdu 2010, p. 17). Though the external dimension is certainly strongly involved here, it is clear that today the impact of EU infrastructure policy on the big projects enhancing energy security is limited. Looking ahead, the EU - following its "Blue Print" - aims to limit itself to few projects, which it then pursues with emphasis (European Commission 2010c). A concrete proposal for a regulation to realize the "Blue Print" via inter alia large financial commitment plus strong involvement of the ACER and the ENTSOs has been presented as recently as October 2011 (European Commission 2011c). Thus with the legislation in place there is a chance that EU infrastructure policy can contribute vastly to long term energy security if the different key projects are carried out, but it is also very plausible that EU infrastructure policy remains unbinding and efficient only on a small scale, while member states realize projects in their respective interest.

It can be expected that a failing EU infrastructure policy is closely connected to a failing market and nonexistent common foreign policy.





Source: Antin 2011

4.2.3. EFFICIENCY

Energy efficiency policy is a powerful tool in theory to increase energy security, by decreasing the demand for PES and in particular the import rates of PES (Checchi, Behrens & Egenhofer 2009, pp. 38-39). As energy security includes enough supply for the proper functioning of the society, energy efficiency policy, which leads to the decoupling of economic growth from energy use set out by the EU, is considered (European Commission 2010b, p. 5). Only such absolute energy savings, sans a "rebound" (World Energy Council & Oliver Wyman 2007, p. 10), benefit energy security. First and foremost energy efficiency policy is attractive for energy security on account of the highest saving potential in buildings and transport (European Commission 2010b, p. 8), meaning that precious oil could be saved. In difference to infrastructure policy and market policy the EU formulated the already introduced unbinding 20% reduction of energy consumption for 2020, compared to the EU base prognosis for 2020, goal. In relative terms this would result in a decrease of energy consumption of about 13% (Commission of the European Communities 2008a, p. 3). Like in the other aspects there is a discrepancy between the legal ambition of the EU and the practice of EU energy policy, but the decisive difference is that the EU openly calls out the member states to act on this on a regular basis. The strongest instrument has been a directive on energy end-use efficiency, which set out the goal of saving 9% of energy end-use in 2016, compared to 2006, and obligated member states to present National Energy Efficiency Action Plans (NEEAP) to achieve this (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2006). Since the introduction of the directive, the Commission has not be tired to stress that the NEEAP do not come close to the set out targets and the new 20% target in several communications, because the implementation proceeds to slow (Nötzold 2011, pp. 37–41). The Commission even sent out a Reasoned Opinion to 20 member states (European Union 2009). On the more specific level of energy performance of buildings, the EU in 2010 has passed a directive amending a previous one suffering from the same issues as the end-use directive. The effectiveness of it is once again in doubt due to the very detail oriented long term character of the articles and the unbinding nature of such a directive (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2010a). At least energy efficiency policy found its way into the member states via the ecodesign directions (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009e), though they are almost irrelevant from an energy security point of view. Looking ahead there is a strong consensus that energy efficiency in the identified areas is an instrument for energy security (Fischer 2011, p. 209). At the same time the compliance of the member states is questionable and the EU is legally limited to change that in the near future (Geden & Fischer 2008, pp. 102–103). In a best possible future then the member states as a block follow the EU leadership and start consequently implementing the directives, because energy efficiency policy benefits the environmental goals of the EU even more (Hennicke 2010). The drawback would be a total implementation resistance combined with a lack of initiatives on a national level contributing to a high level of energy insecurity.

20% target? ENERGY EFFICENCY EU vs. all member states

Figure 10: Building Block – Energy Efficiency

Source: Antin 2011

4.2.4. RENEWABLE ENERGY

Renewable energy in the long term will be the future for the EU and its member states on their way to a post-carbon society. It does not matter what kind of renewable energy, the common perception is that renewable energy sources (RES) reduce greenhouse gas emissions and help to diversify the energy mix (International Energy Agency 2010, p. 276). The later is the circumstance, which makes renewable energy policy a key contributor to energy security. By increasing the amount of produced renewable energy the EU increases its self-sufficiency, reducing the demand for all the other imported PES and therefore in total increasing energy security (Olz 2007, p. 9). The difference for EU policy on RES compared to the other policy areas is that the whole sector developed rapidly from a niche existence to its current relevance on the national levels within years on account of thorough government involvement, presenting the EU with 27 fundamentally heterogeneous and evolving systems (Klessmann et al. 2011, pp. 7638–7642). The EU had to recognize barriers, mainly the different national support systems, thus resulting in a policy concentrated on target setting to commit the member states to a promotion of renewable energy and not on the creation of a market as with other energy sources, despite such attempts made by the EU (Buchan 2009, pp. 149–151). Building on the first set of directives introduced in 2001 and 2003 establishing goals for the share of RES in the electricity and transport sector for 2010, which were as of today only slightly missed thanks to very high rates in some member states compensating very low rates in others, the EU formulated a new overarching target in the EPE (Klessmann et al. 2011, pp. 7637–7638). Besides the "binding target of a 20% share of renewable energies in overall energy consumption by 2020", a 10 % binding minimum target for the share of biofuels in EU petrol and diesel consumption by 2020 was introduced (Council of the European Union 2007, p. 21). To guide the member states to achieve the target, a directive on the use of renewable sources was adopted in 2009. The central elements of the directive are the concrete national targets member states have to meet to fulfill the overall target of 20%, funding and some bureaucratic easing. The targets for the share of RES in gross final energy consumption by 2020 range from 11 % for Luxembourg up to 49% for Sweden (European Parliament & Council of the European Union 2009a, p. 46). All in all, a loose EU framework for renewable energy policy exists in which member states are the dominating actors and face totally different challenges, which bears conflict potential. However if the success in national RES policy continues it is plausible that a Europeanization

of this policy area with its integration in market and infrastructure policy takes place and even surpasses the goal set by the EU as even in the current situation the targets are projected to be met (European Commission 2010b, p. 3). Hence in the shadow of environmental benefits energy security would be increased substantially (Fischer 2011, p. 183). Nonetheless the current situation also leaves the door wide open for new risks for energy security. With the manifold preferences for national solutions projects could be carried out at very high costs and in regions with vary variable natural availability all depending on the political urgency in the member states (Olz 2007, p. 64). In the end the targets would not be reached and the inefficient overinvestment in RES would further intensify energy security issues.





Source: Antin 2011

4.3. EXTERNAL DIMENSION

4.3.1. IN GENERAL

Energy security policy is multidimensional (Baumann 2008, pp. 4–10). The previously presented internal aspects are altogether not enough to secure energy on their own without engaging in foreign policy. This fact obviously rests on the importance of energy commodities for every single economy, which were politicized since Churchill's days and the externalities of energy use in general (Yergin 2009, pp. 151–167). For the EU, the big difference in comparison to the internal policy dimension is that on the internal dimension the Commission has developed comparably great power (Buchan 2009, p. 11), whereas on the external dimension the member states still have clear superiority (Nugent 2011, pp. 376–378). Keeping this in mind, the EU institutions have made advances on external energy security policy in the last decade and felt even more empowered to do so on the basis of the Common Foreign and Security Policy (CFSP).

Tangible advances have been the various regional energy dialogues as part of e.g. the Euro-Mediterranean Partnership (EMP) and the European Neighbourhood Policy (ENP), in particular towards Algeria (Youngs 2009, pp. 20–23). The creation of an energy community with the Balkan states was certainly another step to increase the profile of EESP (Council of the European Union 2006). Most strikingly, a recent document by the Commission on energy policy was called "The EU Energy Policy: Engaging with Partners beyond our borders". Here, the Commission defines four priorities: Building up the external dimension of the EU's internal energy market, strengthening partnerships for secure, safe, sustainable and competitive energy, improving access to sustainable energy for developing countries and better promoting EU policies beyond its borders (European Commission 2011b, pp. 3–4). The most important findings are that the EU aims at exporting its internal strategy led by the credo of a liberalized market to the forefront of its external policy, only calling for the coordination of bilateral agreements and formulating principles for the external policy towards the various groups of countries. However, such general findings are not enough to capture the (positive and negative) potential and nature of external EESP. Therefore the EU policy towards its biggest supplier nation Russia on the one side, clearly the most important factor in EESP as outlined in a communication on external energy relations (Commission of the European Communities 2006b), and on the other side the policy towards the EU's biggest competitor for resources China, the world's biggest challenge for energy policy (International Energy Agency 2000), should be briefly examined, as those reflect the cornerstones of the EU's external dimension of energy security and its complex role in future energy security policy.¹⁸

4.3.2. POLICY TOWARDS RUSSIA

At first glance one may question this selection, due to the exclusion of the OPEC, but referring to the findings on oil, it is clear that the policy potential is very limited for the EU (Müller 2009, pp. 231–235). Russia, there is no doubt, has been and will remain the number one priority on the agenda of external EESP, because of its geographic proximity and its vast resources (Bahgat 2006, p. 968). Being the number one single nation exporter of gas, oil,

¹⁸Transit countries are normally a third group of countries discussed, but the energy insecurities associated with them are namely terroristic acts Comolli (2010, pp. 181–182), which are to no extant covered by EESP. Other issues are tied to the supply nation as for instance relevant policy towards the Ukraine is dominated by EU-Russia relations. Hence transit countries will not be discussed.

coal and even uranium to the EU, Russia's seemingly new "Energy Great Power" (Morales 2008) approach has been the main motive for an formulation of an EU energy security policy in the last decade (Eurostat 2009, p. 23). To achieve long term physical availability of in particular gas the EU has engaged in different policies, factoring in Russian hurdles. The European Charter Treaty in 1991 (ECT) was only the first unsuccessful attempt by the EU to transfer Russian energy relations on a market-based and multilateral basis, which Russia like Algeria rejected (Buchan 2010, p. 371; Youngs 2009, pp. 80-81). From here on the EU has taken a vis-à-vis approach towards Russia formalized by the EU-Russia Energy Dialogue, which aimed to foster the market opening on a more technocratic basis (Böhme 2011, pp. 158–159). The biggest achievement has been the signing of an agreement on an early warning mechanism for gas supply to eliminate irritating gas conflicts involving transit nations through thorough communication (Directorate General for Energy 2011b, p. 66). Since 2006 the great debate in Russia-EU relations is the renewal of the Partnership and Cooperation Agreement (PCA), where energy security issues would be a core component, but until today it remains fruitless (European Union - EEAS (European External Action Service) 2011). The take away from such policy is that the EU focuses on market convergence policy in line with CFSP principles in hope to extinguish monopolistic supply shortages and enable much needed investment in Russian oil and gas production, the underperformance of which is often considered the real threat to EU energy security (European Commission 2011b, p. 8; Truscott 2009, pp. 28–30). The lack of a tangible policy is a result of the bilateral policy from influential member states. Instead of market opening those member states hand in hand with their energy champions signed several contracts with Gazprom on huge infrastructure projects, revealing a very geopolitical approach towards energy security (Youngs 2009, p. 82). The logic behind such policy is that due to the huge market potential and the removal of transit nations from the supply chain, Gazprom will always be a reliable supplier guaranteeing energy security. What are often called "divide et impera" (Cohen 2011, p. 12) tactics by Russia were highlighted by two projects: Nord Stream and South Stream. Both pipelines were obviously breaching the EU imperative of diversification. Nord Stream connecting Russian gas fields directly with Germany recently opened and will remain a fixture for Europe's energy security with a future capacity of 10% of the EU's gas demand (Zeit Online 2011), although in 2006 Polish officials compared the project to the Hitler-Stalin-Pact (Pollak, Slominski & Schubert 2010, p. 183).

South Stream has an even deeper implication for EU energy security policy, because the project is in direct competition to the EU-supported Nabucco pipeline (International Energy Agency 2008, p. 71). The development of Nabucco vice versa South Stream, which is supposed to run below the Black Sea connecting Russian gas fields with Bulgaria and then to Austria and or Italy, is of decisive meaning for future energy security policy, because Nabucco would reflect a successful EU policy and the taping of the Caspian basin as a new alternative source, whereas South Stream would serve as a proof for the inefficiency of EU policy and the almighty role Russia will continue to play for EU energy security (Umbach 2009). After all, the EU policy towards Russia is an undeniably strong variable for the future EESP on behalf of the extent of current interdependence and the general symbioses between internal aspects like market, infrastructure or efficiency policy and the external agenda. Thus, if the EU is capable to liberalize the energy market between the EU and Russia, including the realization of Nabucco, the EU would diversify its sources, depoliticize Russian supplies and increase the infrastructural reliability. Additionally, along the lines the same success in its policy towards the Russia-like positioned Algeria, symbolized by joined initiatives as the infamous Gas Exporting Countries Forum (GECF) and the cooperation between Sonatrach and Gazprom (Checchi, Behrens & Egenhofer 2009, p. 19), with its rich LNG reserves could materialize, further maximizing energy security (Youngs 2009, pp. 61– 62). On the downside of developments the geopolitical approach could manifest itself, rendering EU policy irrelevant and making the EU extremely dependable on one source, which poses a real threat of politically motivated physical unavailability for the small member states of the eastern and southern regions of the Union and at least insufficient supplies for the Western/Central region due to Russian incapability to fulfill its obligations (Baumann & Simmerl 2011, pp. 7–16).





Source: Antin 2011

4.3.3. POLICY TOWARDS CHINA

With only a handful of nations being able to meet their domestic demand with indigenous resources, huge demand shifts of one nation have an impact on the supply of another nation. In case of the EU the biggest competitor for future energy sources and thus a variable to consider in EESP is China due to two factors besides its rising energy demand as the world's soon-to-be number one economy: China's divergence from EESP combined with its geographic proximity (International Energy Agency 2010, pp. 97–100). On the one hand China's energy hunger for explicitly oil increases the overall pressure on good EESP to meet the future demand, e.g. because of China's willingness to sacrifice environmental goals or political principles for energy security. This gives China an advantage on the global markets (Meidan 2008, pp. 42–43). On the other hand China's "Energy Diplomacy" (Jakobson 2008, p. 122), meaning a geopolitical approach, contradicts the market orientated EESP, which can render EESP fruitless in regions where the interests collide such as Africa or Central Asia (Umbach 2011, p. 76). To account for China as a major influence on the EU's energy security, the EU has indeed formulated only abstract policy goals towards China in its energy policy. Beginning with the very broad "strengthening partnership and cooperation" (Council of the European Union 2007, p. 19) objective in the EPE and concluding with the recent Communication by the Commission in which at least China's impact on the global market and the need for an EU response is stated, no further concrete actions are mentioned (European Commission 2011b). However the policy is institutionalized since 2006 by the annual bilateral EU-China Dialogue, which claims as its biggest success a workshop, signaling its weakness (European Commission 2009). The most concrete policies have all been results of the annual EU-China Summits, in which a slew of programs were decided. The different projects with the focus on CCS technology, nuclear energy, energy efficiency and renewable energy, represent the old pattern of EU rule export with the attempt to influence China's demand side energy security policy advantage of the EU's energy security (Nötzold 2011, pp. 323–327). EESP towards China is by far not as developed as towards Russia, which is symbolized by the lack of member states' policy on this issue with the exception of environmental policy that has fairly stalled since the failure of the COP15 summit in Copenhagen in 2009 (The Guardian 2009). If the EESP is successful in promoting its approach, China at best would only slightly rattle the global markets and will not be interested in drawing away Central Asian and Russian supplies from the EU, due to a tamed

geopolitical approach. At the other end of the spectrum China would focus on supply security completing one bilateral deal after the other and thereby eliminating the EU's chances for diversification and moreover pushing fossil PES prices to a premium, threatening the EU's supplies forever.





Source: Antin 2011

5. Scenarios

5.1. **SCENARIO LOGICS**

Before strictly formulating the respective scenario logic, it is important to remember the premises already introduced. Technological progress and revolutionary global environmental policy are left out of the scenario process, simply because the time frame is too narrow to consider changes in both areas as drivers. Moreover, certain fundamental changes like the sudden global unavailability of one resource should as well be excluded (Schröder & Tull 2008, p. 11). One premise following the same logic is the assumption that the EU will persist in its current form until 2020.¹⁹

The scenario logic as earlier established follows the level of energy security the EESP delivers. Looking from the EU perspective that the thesis has taken, energy security is created by the prefect execution of EESP whereas a non-compliance with the policy results in energy insecurity. Thus For the sake of exploration, one scenario should be drawn where

¹⁹Of course the accession of Croatia and probably Iceland will take place, but it will not affect EESP as both nations are too small to influence the process, but the entrance of Turkey into the EU would change everything. Thus a fixing of this variable is a necessary simplification. The reverse logic that member states exit the EU shall be excluded due to the high degree of integration, which would make a disintegration in less than 10 years very difficult. The current document on the EU accession process indicates the slowed process: European Commission (2011d)

the EU succeeds with its policy under the most favorable circumstances and one where the EU fails to do so under the most hostile circumstances.

Such a best-case scenario shall be called "The Perfect Market" as the high level of energy security would primarily be attained by market mechanisms (Comolli 2010, p. 177). The opposing pole shall be a scenario called "The New Great Game" reflecting the power politics involved and already alluded to above (Nygren 2009, p. 94). A third scenario, resembling a baseline scenario following a standard projection is left out, as the reader automatically tends to "split the difference" to create such a scenario on his own (Wack 1985b).





Source: Antin 2011

5.2. PRESENTING THE BACKGROUND

This background has the purpose to frame the pictures the building blocks will draw. It is composed of the most important projections of global energy statistics which constitute the context for future EESP. On the one hand EESP has to cope with global developments and on the other hand EU, energy statistics, which indicate EESP, follow the global trend although it can be reasonably expected - based on the current performance - to an always much lower or higher degree (World Energy Council & Oliver Wyman 2007, pp. 15–24).²⁰ The three most relevant statistics for each scenario are the oil price, the global energy consumption and the global energy mix (International Energy Agency 2011, pp. 64, 70-72). Moreover the changes in the global statistics basically reflect the changes in China's energy patterns (International

²⁰To a lower degree in the increase of overall energy demand, fossil fuels (with the exception of gas) and nuclear energy. To a higher degree in the increase of demand of renewable energy. A good example are the scenarios of the World Energy Council, which support such reasoning World Energy Council (2007, pp. 41–48).

Energy Agency 2010, pp. 97–100). Thankfully, the IEA presents a pair of statistical scenarios alas accounting for policy change. The "450 Scenario" is the best-case scenario, which lets the identified statistics become part of "The Perfect Market" scenario. Meanwhile, the "Current Policies Scenario" will be considered for the "New Great Game". The IEA scenarios in their conception are very different from the EESP scenario, but they share the same logic regarding their results.





Source: International Energy Agency 2011, p. 71, Antin 2011





Source: International Energy Agency 2011, p. 64, Antin 2011

| | "The New Great Game" | "The Perfect Market" |
|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|
| Oil price increase by 51% | | Oil price increase by 24% |
| • | World energy demand increases by 25%: | • World energy demand increases by 21%: |
| | o Oil by 15% | o Oil by 5% |
| | o Gas by 28% | • Gas by 19% |
| | • Coal by 34% | • Coal by 13% |
| | • Nuclear by 29% | Nuclear by 38 % |
| | Renewables by 27% | Renewables by 42% |

Figure 17 Changes Compared to the Current Situation by Scenario (in %)

Source: International Energy Agency 2011, p. 71, Antin 2011

5.3. SCENARIO I: "THE PERFECT MARKET"

In the year 2020 the EU has inched closer together than ever before and enjoys a level of energy security, which only was matched in the period prior to the first oil crisis. The success story of a finally formalized EESP began on the heels of the European dept crises that even saw the realm of fiscal policy becoming more *European* (Gros & CNN 2011). Strengthened by such developments, the liberalization has finally succeeded, because Germany and France have given up their resistance in the wake of demonstrating that the EU has a future and appeasing the pro IEM majority. The unbundling was accelerated through the financial deficits of European energy giants and the willingness of large companies to invest in "secure havens" like long term revenue infrastructure. To minimize any backlashes of market liberalization EESP has focused on supervising the new gas and electricity network operators and setting incentives for connectors in particular in the critical energy corridors. The key role to regulate the common gas and electricity market has since 2014 been handed to the newly-created "European Energy Regulation Agency (EERA)" developed from the ACER and the two ENTSOs. The EERA was part of a new legislation package following the "A Strategy for European Energy Security Policy" Commission proposal, which was pushed through by the Greece and Italian Council presidencies of 2014 as both countries tried to reestablish themselves on the EU stage (European Commission 2011). The liberal market has also led to the feared engagement of Gazprom and Algeria's Sonatrach in the EU market with both even participating in the downstream business, but fears did not materialize as the global prizes remained stable leaving both companies with absolutely no room to manipulate the well regulated common market.

Sonatrach's market access was welcomed as it was accompanied by huge investment in LNG facilities, as Algeria was desperately seeking reliable customers in the wake of low LNG prices, on account of the US's large shale gas reserves. In the case of Gazprom the competition by LNG and the relatively low oil price led to a political rethinking by newly elected president Vladimir Putin, who - after a last muscle flexing towards the Ukraine in the aftermath of his election (winter 2013) that only demonstrated the well functioning of the crisis mechanisms and eliminated further doubts on EESP - started courting the EU directly. The new PCA included a proposal for a new ECT, which Russia (and Algeria) finally ratified in order to lift the already highly developed interdependence on a legal basis. The completion of the South Stream and the Nabucco Pipeline in 2015 and 2017 respectively secured diverse EU gas supplies for the long run (South Stream 2011; Nabucco Gas Pipeline 2011). In particular, the EU-Russia cooperation in Central Asia to secure gas for Nabucco demonstrated the new commitment to market policies. Russia's willingness to sign the ECT and allow European MNC's to invest in the sector steamed also from the strong global commitment to efficiency policy, which became a global trend towards the year 2020. The EU with credibility took the role of a trailblazer. Reassured by the third generation of NEEAPs in 2014 that the EU is able to even surpass all targets, it was agreed upon to further present NEEAPs on the way to the new binding targets. Additionally China, the world's biggest energy consumer played a crucial role by making energy efficiency a priority in its 13th Five-Year-Plan (2016-2020) (International Energy Agency 2011, p. 78). China's commitment followed the EU-China energy summit at which the new EU Secretary of Foreign Affairs recapped the success of the EU's single voice policy towards China, a huge part of EESP, as build on a unique cooperation in the technology sector. First and foremost he referred to the shared pioneering in renewable energy, where the EU was already able to meet the 20% and 10% targets in 2018. Second, he referred to the nuclear energy cooperation (including Russia). In fact nuclear energy celebrated a renaissance in the EU when despite the well functioning market the rising import rate combined with emission goals led to an EU-wide commitment to nuclear energy up until 2030. Germany remained withdrawn, but contributed over proportionally, because of the lack of own capacities, to the update of all EU nuclear power stations via a special "Program for Nuclear Energy", which was executed by EURATOM and EERA. Last, he mentioned the joint deployment of CCS technology. The EU in 2020 has developed into the world leader in CCS, thus creating the option to rely on

indigenous coal reserves or Russian coal to in fact balance global gas price increases or renewable energy deficits without sacrificing the emission goals. All these positive developments were facilitated by the large EU Multiannual Financial Framework for 2014-2020 (European Commission 2011a), especially guaranteeing funding for exactly such infrastructure projects like CCS facilities, the completion of the large pipeline projects and the integration of renewable energy. Renewables remain at the heart of EESP as demonstrated in the 2018 "Second Strategic Review: EESP Policy 2030". The goal is to finally create a common market to meet the new reasonable 30% binding target for 2030, although trade in renewables definitely increased and favorable cross border projects developed, the subvention systems remain an issue similar to the problems witnessed in CAP. In sum, EESP 2020 is coordinated by the Commission and the EERA has become a prime example of successful integration. The high level of energy security is a result of a very successful demand side management and flexible supply management, built on a common market, a strong partnership with Russia and common interests with China. Such a high level of energy security even increasingly let's voices rise that EESP doesn't need to be consistently and explicitly addressed anymore, as was the case in the decades prior to 2014 and that the next Multiannual Financial Framework should thus not address it anymore, but with the post carbon society in mind, the challenges of a rising India ahead and most importantly the economic benefits it created, EESP should remain a priority.

5.4. SCENARIO II: "THE NEW GREAT GAME"

In the year 2020 there is no such thing as EESP, though energy insecurity has become the mother of all issues for the EU's member states, who find themselves fighting a constant uphill battle against energy super powers and super consumers. The hope for genuine EESP began to vanish soon after the debt crisis. The crisis on the surface left a *destiny bound* EU, but the distrusts between the member states and particularly towards Germany swelled steadily underneath. The integration process stalled forever when member states collectively failed to fulfill the new fiscal obligations. The IEM began its total collapse when the combination of high pressure to unbundle and the burden of the nuclear exit left Germany's energy giants on the one hand with the need to sell their infrastructure to the highest bidder and on the other hand with the need to engage in the most profitable alliances. In both cases Gazprom became the partner of choice, despite protests from the

Commission, indicating the true weakness of the never formalized EESP. The fear of an almighty German-Russian energy power led to protectionist endeavors, particularly in the Eastern European member states. Unbundling generated even more sensible problems, as the European companies which took over the networks were unable to meet the challenges of modernizing the networks. After a series of blackouts in the summer of 2012 most member states pushed for the reversal of the liberal market approach. A contributing factor in this development has been the de facto retreat of one of the most important market liberalization advocate, the UK, from EU policies, which came in the wake of the great economic boom of 2013-2015 when global energy prices sky-rocked, giving the UK an incentive to extract higher quotas of its fossil fuels and constructing its own ESP around those indigenous resources (Checchi, Behrens & Egenhofer 2009, p. 15). Other member states let national preferences prevail as well. France directed all its investments twoards its nuclear sector, but in the short term renationalized its energy giants to be on par in negotiations with Sonatrache, whereas Germany, where the Green party has been part of the government since the elections of 2013 (Handelsblatt 2011), even accelerated its green movement by further limiting its national coal mining, despite rising global prices. Germany therefore aimed at a higher rate of renewables and trusted Russia to supply more gas. Poland however intensified its coal production disregarding CCS to profit from the fast rising coal prices. Under such circumstances EESP concurred as the Commission's new proposals were always shipwrecked by the Council's member states increasingly drifting apart. Already established institutions like ACER, which was left without its supposed objective, the regulation of the IEM, were soon dissolved. Especially the failure of Nabucco was a nail in the coffin for EESP, after Nabucco had received the highest political and financial support. The consequence has been that since its final failure in 2014 all EU energy infrastructure programs were cancelled, due to inefficiency. In 2015 the Commission following the expected underwhelming NEEAP results tried a last push under the presidency of Latvia, a small eastern European country deeply in favor of EESP, to at least steer the member states towards the 2020 goals. The Communication called "European Energy Security: Meeting the 2020 goals and beyond" included a legislative package of measures binding the member states to reach certain signposts and a financial program to help individual member states, but the required Council majority never materialized. Neither the efficiency goal nor the binding renewable energy target has been met in 2020. The efficiency goal was not met as

demand simply increased, eliminating all savings. In case of renewable energy some countries outperformed the targets due to national subvention systems and benefiting from the high fossil fuel prices, but the national scale developments left instable systems like the recent south German power outage demonstrated. Yet, those power outages are only a small energy security concern compared to the insecurity rising from the new rules in global energy politics the EU has to deal with. EESP policy towards Russia remained superficial on account of the lack of a new PCA let alone a new ECT. With its dominant market position, the high resource prizes, Nord Stream and South Stream in place since 2015, Russia has held all cards in hand. Russia's putinism completely undermined the external dimension of EESP, which therefore never extended to China. Moreover, China's immense growth eliminated every diversification strategy the EESP had envisioned. China's unlimited energy hunger draw global LNG reserves and even more worrying led to an extension of its dominance to the Caspian region, a decisive constellation for the Nabucco flop. The alliance with Russia, manifested in the new Sino Stream pipeline, also limited the always evoked interdependence between Russia and the EU. The supply stop through South Stream in the winter of 2019, as a result of the EU countries` reluctance to accept another price increase, was just a warning signal for even more severe supply stoppages via North Stream. The take away from the caused gas shortage is that the installed EU crisis mechanisms worked as far as the reserves held up to bridge the supply gap. Maybe this reflects most clearly the extent to which the ambitious plans for EESP have degenerated in the reality of 2020. The optimist would notice in the - shared with the IEA - supervision of emergency reserves a last straw for EESP, yet the policy is more a relic of the past and will be probably rendered useless in a prolonged period of power politics.

6. CONCLUSION

6.1. IMPLICATIONS

This thesis set out on the quest to answer the question how EESP may look like in 2020. Besides simply thinking about the future in a non linear and non predictive way out of scientific curiosity the journey into the future was supposed to make EESP better understandable, which in the end could foster better policy planning and decision making (Shell International BV 2008, p. 12). Using scenarios the path became more interesting than the destination itself. A dualism between actually identifying EESP and using scenarios to explore the future of this policy field emerged. Obviously the scenario method guided the process of defining EESP and vice versa. It became clear that much uncertainty surrounds the future of EESP and thus for the purpose of maximum exploration one scenario accounted for the most positive outlook and the other for the most negative outlook on EESP. In between those scenarios the actual EESP of 2020 is supposed to take shape. "The Super Market" scenario demonstrated that EESP is in principal able to deliver a high degree of energy security in the future. In the completely integrated policy area the functional IEM is accompanied by progressive demand side management, enabled by a strong single voice external policy drawing Russia not only into a common market, but as well closer to "Europe's normative empire" (Bressand 2011, p. 80) and shared interests with China. Moreover the maximum diversity of resources is a policy objective, which eases any single PES issue, should one arise. The "New Great Game" revealed the flaws of current EESP that might lead to unprecedented energy insecurity following the evaporation of EESP. The member states deal on their own with energy security issues depending on their specific needs. The single member states still pursue aspects of EESP but due to the lack of bargaining power and effectiveness are on a very weak stand towards Russia and the other producers, which established controlling market position in a world seamlessly adhering to Friedman's "First Law of Petropolitics" (Thomas L. Friedman 2006).

Looking at the pictures the scenarios have drawn the understanding of EESP and much more useful what good EESP has to look like was indeed refined. First of all, the already in the definition eliminated, though in the scenario titles purposely reintroduced separation between a market perspective and a geopolitical perspective on European energy security finally needs to be dismissed forever.

The best case scenario illustrates that the market realizes its potential with a geopolitical flanking. The worst case scenario confirms that geopolitics cannot be ignored. Or in Javier Solana's words: "It is a euphemism to say that geo-politics affects investment and prices – and vice versa." (Solana 2006, p. 2) Therefore the scenarios give evidence to the preferable understanding of both aspects as "two sides of the same coin" (Checchi, Behrens & Egenhofer 2009), withstanding most prominently the solely economic perspective of Cambridge's Peter Noël (Noel 2008).

The second finding is that the EU is an institution, which cannot be ignored regarding future energy security policy for the benefit of the Union's member states. A powerful EESP, led by a Commission, who throughout decades demonstrated a deep understanding of energy security policy, offers the brightest perspective to create a stable level of energy security, based on the large scale of the problems, the limitations of the member states and the interdependence of the member states. The best-case scenario gives a sense of energy security that no single state could create on its own and the worst-case scenario underlines the risks of non compliance. Speaking in his role as the President of the Council of the European Union to the EP, Tony Blair presented the clearest words on the EU's potential in energy policy in general, which to the same extent are valid for EESP: "For far too long we have been in a situation where, in a haphazard and random way, energy needs and energy priorities are simply determined in each country according to its needs, but without any sense of the collective power we could have in Europe if we were prepared to pool our energy and our resources (Buchan 2009, p. 12)."

The last implication concerns the strategy for good EESP. The core obligation has to be a policy preeminently persuading a diversified energy mix, which can only be taken "from principles to action" (Commission of the European Communities 2006) by a policy following the *same coin* thinking. The state of affairs lined out that there are clear member states preferences, historical circumstances and natural limitations, which limit diversification, but the EU has the potential to bridge those by a *pooling of resources*. Taking the scenarios out of their background, it becomes clear that the main difference between the scenarios is that in the worst-case scenario monolithic decisions on resources lead to impotency, whereas in the best case scenario there is always an alternative based on a more flexible approach, which directly devitalizes e.g. a high import rate of one supplier as it only covers a limited amount of the energy demand.

Thus the main lesson from the scenarios has to be that EESP in 2020 has to build on the EU's capability to leave ideological policy aside and combine all resources (Umbach 2011, p. 186). Summing it up in one sentence, one can transform Winston Churchill's "Safety and certainty in oil lie in variety and variety alone" (Hayward 2010) into a new credo for EESP: "Safety and certainty in *energy* lie in variety and variety alone."

6.2. PROSPECTIVE USE

All those findings may sound trivial at first or, even worse, simply obvious, though if one considers the aforementioned limitations of the scenarios and for what they can actually be used, the results are utterly astonishing. Surely, before coming to any results one has to imagine that in the end of such an individual scenario process, several individuals with different scenarios following the same method come together to eliminate the "blind spots" (Shell International BV 2008, p. 16) each one shares to create a final set of scenarios, similar to the process RDS has installed to validate the scenarios (Shell International BV 2008, pp. 40–51). Definitely, policy planners cannot use such abstract scenarios outright to draw plans, yet they can go back to the explorative scenarios to focus the more sophisticated data driven scenarios on the questions raised by the explorative scenarios, use them as access points to a thematic or point to those findings to identify critical predetermines for good strategies. The last point is especially interesting as this to a certain extent means creating certainty for decision makers, which international relations scholars are normally unable to do with theories. Taking from "God Gave Physics the Easy Problems: Adapting Social Science to an Unpredictable World", an article presenting a method derived from evolutionary biology theory for international relations scholars to create scenarios with the goal to stimulate a rethinking on the nature, goals and criteria for judging on social science theory, if theory is supposed to be more helpful in understanding the real world (Bernstein et al. 2000, p. 44), one can actually find brilliant evidence for this deficit: "A deep irony is embedded in the history of the scientific study of international relations. Recent generations of scholars separated policy from theory to gain intellectual distance from decision-making, in the belief that this would enhance the scientific quality of their work. But five decades of well-funded efforts to develop theories of international relations have produced precious little in the way of useful, high confidence results (Bernstein et al. 2000, p. 44)." Notwithstanding that their method has a different objective - the reason why it was left out in the deriving of a scenario

method – it still shares the idea that international relations have to think outside the traditional theories to close the maligned gap between science and decision makers.

To round off the thesis the second research question should be answered by an example, after the first research question was already answered by the scenarios themselves. Coincidently, a concrete example for a fictive use of the EESP scenarios in the policy planning process can be made by discussing their use in light of the "Energy Roadmap 2050", which was presented during the course of this writing in December 2011 by the Commission (European Commission 2011e). The Energy Roadmap 2050 is set out to guide the EU's policy to the goals of 2050 and will certainly influence the policy planning process (European Commission 2011e, pp. 18–20). In the Road Map the Commission "explores the challenges posed by delivering the EU's decarbonisation objective while at the same time ensuring security of energy supply and competitiveness" (European Commission 2011e, p. 1) by strictly using the statistical PRIMES model (E3Mlab 2011), which generates six different quantitative scenarios according to a specifically decided upon dataset (European Commission 2011e, p. 4). Here the parallel developed EESP scenarios come into play. Based on their findings additional PRIMES scenarios putting energy security on the forefront could be added to the Road Map to create a more complete picture. If there are parallels between the results (and there are, see European Commission 2011e, pp. 19–20) the EESP scenarios could be added as a supportive instrument presenting another perspective, because due to their narrative nature it can be assumed that policy planners draw additional benefit by taking the interconnections and not only singular numbers into account. Or, if one focuses on the discrepancies, the EESP scenarios could indicate a tradeoff between security goals and climate goals that raise awareness in the next steps of policy planning.

Finally, the Energy Roadmap 2050 signals that data driven scenarios are already a part of EU policy planning, but there is still room for explorative scenarios to contribute their fair share. The EESP scenarios and its method need to be viewed as a modest attempt to take some of these shares for IR scholars, almost as a bonus to learning more about a complex policy area, establishing what the future might hold and generating some certainty. Adding all this together at the end of the equation there can be no doubt that explorative scenarios are an instrument for international IR scholars worth of further consideration.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

REFERENCE LIST: DOCUMENTS & LEGISLATION

- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 1972. *Communication from the Commission to the Council. Necessary progress in community energy policy.* Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (72); 1200). Available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/5146/1/001628_1.pdf [Accessed 8 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 1974. *Communication and proposals from the Commission to the Council. Towards a new Energy Policy Strategy for the European Community.* Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (74); 550). Available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/5190/1/001648_1.pdf [Accessed 9 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 1979. Communication from the Commission to the Council. Energy Objectives of the Community for 1990 and Convergence of Policies of Member States. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (79); 316). Available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/31880/1/COM_(79)_316_final.pdf> [Accessed 9 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 1994. *Green Paper. For a European Energy Policy.* Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (94); 659). Available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/1185/1/energy_gp_COM_94_659.pdf> [Accessed 9 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2002. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. The internal market in energy: Coordinated measures on the security of energy supply. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2002); 488). Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2002:0488:FIN:EN:PDF [Accessed 13 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2006a. *Green Paper. A European Strategy for Sustainable, Competitive and Secure Energy.* Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2006); 105). Available at: http://europa.eu/documents/comm/green_papers/pdf/com2006_105_en.pdf> [Accessed 15 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2006b. Communication from the Commission to the European Council. External energy relations - from principles to action. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2006); 590). Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:240:0011:0014:EN:PDF> [Accessed 27 December 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2007. Communication from the Commission to the European Council and the European Parliament. An Energy Policy for Europe. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2007); 1). Available at:
 - <http://ec.europa.eu/energy/energy_policy/doc/01_energy_policy_for_europe_en.pdf> [Accessed 15 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2008a. *Communication from the Commission. Energy efficiency: delivering the 20% target.* Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2008); 772). Available at: <http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2008:0772:FIN:EN:PDF> [Accessed 30 November 2011]
- COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES, 2008b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Second strategic Energy Review. An EU Energy Security and Solidarity Action Plan. Brussels: Commission of the European Communities. (COM (2008); 781). Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2008:0781:FIN:EN:PDF> [Accessed 16 November 2011]
- Council of the European Union, 2006. Council Decision of 29 May 2006 on the conclusion by the European Community of the Energy Community Treaty. 2006/500/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 49(L 198), pp. 15–17. Available at: http://eur-
 - lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:198:0015:0017:EN:PDF> [Accessed 26 December 2011]

- Council of the European Union, 2007. Presidency Conclusions. 7224/1/07. Available at: http://register.consilium.europa.eu/pdf/en/07/st07/st07224-re01.en07.pdf> [Accessed 16 November 2011]
- Council of the European Union, 2009. Council Directive 2009/119/EC of 14 Septembe 2009 imposing an obligation on Member States to maintain minimum stocks of crude oil and\or petroleum products. 2009/119/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 265), pp. 9–23. Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:265:0009:0023:EN:PDF> [Accessed 20 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2001. Green paper. Towards a European strategy for the security of energy supply. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2000); 769). Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/green-paper-energy_supply/doc/green_paper_energy_supply_en.pdf> [Accessed 2 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2010a. *Communication from the Commission. Europe 2020*. A strategy for smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2010); 2020) [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2010b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Energy 2020. A strategy for competitive, sustainable and secure energy. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2010); 639). Available at: http://www.energy.eu/directives/com-2010-0639.pdf [Accessed 1 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2010c. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Energy infrastructure priorities for 2020 and beyond - A Blueprint for an integrated European energy network. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2010); 677). Available at: <http://www.energy.eu/directives/com-2010-0677_en.pdf> [Accessed 28 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011a. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, The Council, the European Economic and Social Committee of the Regions. A Budget for Europe 2020. Part I. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2011); 500). Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/budget/library/biblio/documents/fin_fwk1420/MFF_COM-2011-500_Part_I_en.pdf> [Accessed 20 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011b. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. On security of energy supply and international cooperation. "The EU Energy Policy: Engaging with Partners beyond Our Borders. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2011); 539) [Accessed 20 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011c. Proposal of the European Parliament and of the Council on guidelines for trans-European energy infrastructure and repealing Decision No 1364/2006/EC. Brussels. (COM (2011); 658). Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=COM:2011:0658:FIN:EN:PDF [Accessed 27 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011d. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council. Enlargement Strategy and Main Challenges 2011-2012. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2011); 666). Available at:

<http://ec.europa.eu/enlargement/pdf/key_documents/2011/package/strategy_paper_2011_en.pdf> [Accessed 15 December 2011]

- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011e. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions. Energy Roadmap 2050. Brussels: European Commission. (COM (2011); 885/2). Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/energy/energy2020/roadmap/doc/com_2011_8852_en.pdf> [Accessed 29 December 2011]
- European Communities, 1987. The Single European Act. *Official Journal of the European Communities*, 30(L 169), pp. 1–29. Available at:
 - <http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/emu_history/documents/treaties/singleuropeanact.pdf> [Accessed 9 November 2011]

- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2006. Directive 2006/32/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 April 2006 on energy end-use efficiency and energy services and repealing Council Directive 93/76/EEC. 2006/32/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 49(L114), pp. 64–85. Available at: <http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2006:114:0064:0085:EN:PDF> [Accessed 30 November 2011]
- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2009a. Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources and amending and subsequently repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC. 2009/28/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 140), pp. 16–62. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:140:0016:0062:en:PDF> [Accessed 30 November 2011]
- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2009b. Regulation (EC) No 663/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 establishing a program to aid economic recovery by granting Community financial assistance to projects in the field of energy. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 200), pp. 31–45. Available at:

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:200:0031:0045:EN:PDF> [Accessed 29 November 2011]

- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2009c. Directive 2009/73/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 concerning common rules for the internal market in natural gas and repealing Directive 2003/55/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 211), pp. 94–132. Available at: <http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:211:FULL:EN:PDF> [Accessed 23 November 2011]
- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2009d. Regulation (EC) No 713/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 13 July 2009 establishing an Agency for the Cooperation of Energy Regulators. 713/2009/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 211), pp. 1–14. Available at: <http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:211:FULL:EN:PDF> [Accessed 23 November 2011]
- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2009e. Directive 2009/125/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 21 October 2009 establishing a framework for the setting of ecodesign requirements for energy-related products. 2009/125/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 52(L 285), pp. 10–35. Available at: http://eur-

lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2009:285:0010:0035:en:PDF> [Accessed 30 November 2011]

- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2010a. Directive 2010/31/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 May 2010 on the energy performance of buildings. 2010/31/EU. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 53(153), pp. 13–35. Available at: http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:153:0013:0035:EN:PDF> [Accessed 30 November 2011]
- European Parliament; Council of the European Union, 2010b. Regulation (EU) No. 994/2010 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 October 2010 concerning measures to safeguard security of gas supply and repealing Council Directive 2004/67/EC. 2010/994/EC. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 53(L 295/1). Available at: <http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2010:295:FULL:EN:PDF> [Accessed 21 November 2011]
- European Union, 2003. European Security Strategy: A secure Europe in a better world. (Not published in the Official Journal), pp. 1–14. Available at: http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cmsUpload/78367.pdf [Accessed 13 November 2011]
- European Union, 2010. Consolidated version of the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union. TEU, TFEU. *Official Journal of the European Union*, 53(C 83), pp. 1–334. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:C:2010:083:FULL:EN:PDF [Accessed 18 November 2011]

REFERENCE LIST: LITERATURE, ARTICLES, ONLINE CONTENT

BAHGAT, G., 2006. Europe's energy security: challenges and opportunities. International Affairs, 82(5), 961–975

- BARAN, Z., 2007. EU Energy Security: Time to End Russian Leverage. Washington Quarterly, 30(4), 131-144
- BAUMANN, F., 2008. Energy Security as multidimensional concept. CAP. Available at: http://www.cap.lmu.de/download/2008/CAP-Policy-Analysis-2008-01.pdf> [Accessed 2 December 2011]
- BAUMANN, F., 2010. Europe's Way to Energy Security: The Outer Dimension of Energy Security: From Power Politics to Energy Governance. *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 15(1), 77–95
- BAUMANN, F., and SIMMERL, G., 2011. Between conflict and convergence:. The EU Member States and the Quest for a Common External Energy Policy. Centrum für angewandte Politikforschung an der LMU. Available at: http://www.cap.lmu.de/download/2011/CAP_Paper-Baumann-Simmerl.pdf> [Accessed 27 October 2011]
- BBC, 2011. BBC News Japan earthquake. Available at: http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/world-asia-pacific-12711226> [Accessed 5 November 2011]
- BERNSTEIN, S. et al., 2000. God Gave Physics the Easy Problems. Adapting Social Science to an Unpredictable World. *European Journal of International Relations*, 6(1), 43–76
- BISHOP, P., HINES, A., and COLLINS, T., 2007. The current state of scenario development: an overview of techniques. *foresight*, 9(1), 5–25
- BLOOMBERG, 2011. Arab Spring Uprisings Lose Momentum as 'Status Quo' Fights Back. Available at: http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2011-03-16/arab-spring-uprisings-lose-momentum-as-status-quo-fights-back.html [Accessed 4 November 2011]
- BÖHME, D., 2011. *EU-Russia Energy Relations: What Chance for Solutions? A focus on the natural gas sector.* Potsdam: Univ.-Verl
- BP, 2011. Statistical Review of World Energy June 2011. Available at: <http://www.bp.com/assets/bp_internet/globalbp/globalbp_uk_english/reports_and_publications/statistic al_energy_review_2011/STAGING/local_assets/pdf/statistical_review_of_world_energy_full_report_2011. pdf> [Accessed 14 December 2011]
- BRESSAND, A., 2011. Between Kant and Machiavelli: EU foreign policy priorities in the 2010s. *International Affairs*, 87(1), 59–85
- BUCHAN, D., 2009. *Energy and Climate Change. Europe at the crossroads*. Oxford [England]; New York: Oxford University Press for the Oxford Institute for Energy Studies
- BUCHAN, D., 2010. Energy Policy. Sharp Challenges and Rising Ambitions. *In:* H. WALLACE, M. A. POLLACK and A. R. YOUNG, eds. *Policy-making in the European Union*. 6th ed. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press (The new European Union Series), pp. 357–378
- BUCHAN, D., 2011. Oxford Energy Comment: July 2011. Applying belt and braces to EU energy policy. The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. Available at: http://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wpcontent/uploads/2011/07/Applying-belt-and-braces-to-EU-energy-policy1.pdf> [Accessed 12 November 2011]
- BUNDESKABINETT, 2011. Energiewende Die Beschlüsse des Bundeskabinetts zur Energiewende vom 6. Juni 2011. Bundesministerium für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Reaktorsicherheit. Available at: http://www.bmu.de/energiewende/downloads/doc/47467.php [Accessed 5 November 2011]
- CHECCHI, A., BEHRENS, A., and EGENHOFER, C., 2009. Long-Term Energy Security Risks for Europe. A Sector-Specific Approach: Center for European Policy Studies. (Working Document; No. 309). Available at: http://aei.pitt.edu/10759/1/1785.pdf> [Accessed 4 November 2011]
- CHERMACK, J. T., LYNHAM, A. S., and RUONA, E. A. W., 2001. A Review of Scenario Planning Literature. *Futures Research Quarterly*, Summer 2001(3), 7–31

- CHERP, A., and JEWELL, J., 2011. Measuring energy security: From universal indicators to contextualized frameworks. *In:* B. K. SOVACOOL, ed. *The Routledge handbook of energy security*. London; New York: Routledge
- COHEN, A., 2011. The Russian and Eurasien Energy Outlook and US National Interests. Testimony before the Europe and Eurasia Subcomittee, House International Relations Committee. The Heritage Foundation. Available at: http://foreignaffairs.house.gov/112/coh060211.pdf> [Accessed 4 December 2011]
- DANNREUTHER, R., 2010. Energy Security. *In:* J. P. BURGESS, ed. *The Routledge handbook of new security studies*. London; New York: Routledge, pp. 144–153
- DIRECTORATE GENERAL FOR ENERGY, 2011a. *Country Factsheets*. European Commission. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/publications/statistics/doc/2011-2009-country-factsheets.pdf> [Accessed 5 November 2011]
- DIRECTORATE GENERAL FOR ENERGY, 2011b. *EU-Russia Energy Dialogue. The first ten years: 2000-2010*. European Commission. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/publications/doc/2011_eu-russia_energy_relations.pdf> [Accessed 3 December 2011]
- DRATWA, F. A. et al., eds., 2010. Energiewirtschaft in Europa. Im Spannungsfeld zwischen Klimapolitik, Wettbewerb und Versorgungssicherheit. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer
- E3MLAB, 2011. PRIMES Model. Version used for the 2010 scenarios for the European Commission including the new sub-models. Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/energy/energy2020/roadmap/doc/sec_2011_1569_2_prime_model.pdf> [Accessed 30 December 2011]
- ERDOGDU, E., 2010. Bypassing Russia: Nabucco project and its implications for the European gas security. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 14(9), 2936–2945
- EURACTIV, 2007. 'Gazprom clause' issues Russia ultimatum for energy co-operation. Available at: <http://www.euractiv.com/energy/gazprom-clause-issues-russia-ultimatum-energy-operation/article-166888> [Accessed 14 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2009. Energy: EC-China Energy Dialogue. European Union. Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/energy/international/bilateral_cooperation/china/dialogue_en.htm> [Accessed 5 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2010. *EU energy and transport in figures*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION, 2011. European Research Area Council Presidencies. European Union. Available at: <http://ec.europa.eu/research/era/partnership/process/council_presidency_websites_en.htm> [Accessed 20 December 2011]
- EUROPEAN UNION, 2009. IP/09/182. 20 Member States still not in compliance with Community legislation promoting energy efficency [Accessed 30 November 2011]
- EUROPEAN UNION EEAS (EUROPEAN EXTERNAL ACTION SERVICE), 2011. *Russia*. European Union. Available at: http://eeas.europa.eu/russia/index_en.htm [Accessed 3 December 2011]
- EUROSTAT, 2009. *Panorama of Energy. Energy Statistics to Support Eu Policies and Solutions*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities. (Eurostat Statistical books)
- FISCHER, S., 2009. Energie-und Klimapolitik im Vertrag von Lissabon. Legitimationserweiterung für wachsende Herausforderungen. *Integration*, 32(1), 50–62
- FISCHER, S., 2011. Auf dem Weg zur gemeinsamen Energiepolitik. Strategien, Instrumente und Politikgestaltung in der Europäischen Union. 1st ed. Baden-Baden: Nomos. (Europäische Schriften; 92)
- GAUSE, F. G., 2011. Why Middle East Studies Missed the Arab Spring: The Myth of Authoritarian Stability. *Foreign Affairs*, 90(4), 81–90
- GEDEN, O., and FISCHER, S., 2008. *Die Energie- und Klimapolitik der Europäischen Union. Bestandsaufnahme und Perspektiven*. 1st ed. Baden-Baden: Nomos-Verl.-Ges. (Denkart Europa: Schriften zur europäischen Politik, Wirtschaft und Kultur; 8)

- GEDEN, O., MARCELIS, C., and MAURER, A., 2006. Perspectives for the European Union's External Energy Policy. Discourse, Ideas and Interests in Germany, the UK, Poland and France. Berlin: German Institute for International and Security Affairs. Available at: http://www.swpberlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/arbeitspapiere/External_KS_Energy_Policy_Dez_OG_.pdf [Accessed 21 December 2011]
- GOLDTHAU, A., and GEDEN, O., 2007. Security of Energy Supply in Europe -- Plea for a Pragmatic Approach. Internationale Politik und Gesellschaft(4), 58–73
- GROS, D., and CNN, 2011. Special to CNN: Will Europe's new 'fiscal compact' work? Available at: http://edition.cnn.com/2011/12/11/opinion/eu-daniel-gros/index.html [Accessed 20 December 2011]
- HANDELSBLATT, 2007. Übernahme von Strom- und Gasnetzen: Schutzklausel schürt Streit mit Moskau -International - Politik - Handelsblatt. Available at: http://www.handelsblatt.com/politik/international/schutzklausel-schuert-streit-mit-moskau/2864014.html [Accessed 27 November 2011]
- HANDELSBLATT, 2011. Bundestagswahl 2013: Özdemir hofft auf 15 Prozent plus x. Available at: <http://www.handelsblatt.com/politik/deutschland/oezdemir-hofft-auf-15-prozent-plus-x/5995504.html> [Accessed 26 December 2011]
- HAYWARD, T., 2010. *Energy security through diversity*. Peterson Institute. 23 March. Available at: http://www.bp.com/genericarticle.do?categoryId=98&contentId=7060845 [Accessed 26 December 2011]
- HENNICKE, P., 2010. Ohne eine Effizienzrevolution sind nachhaltige Energiesysteme nicht realisierbar. *In:* F. A. DRATWA et al., eds. *Energiewirtschaft in Europa. Im Spannungsfeld zwischen Klimapolitik, Wettbewerb und Versorgungssicherheit*. Berlin; Heidelberg: Springer, pp. 7–21
- HUSS, W. R., and HONTON, E. J., 1987. Scenario planning—What style should you use? *Long Range Planning*, 20(4), 21–29
- IEA, 2011. International Energy Agency Energy Security. OECD/IEA. Available at: http://www.iea.org/subjectqueries/keyresult.asp?KEYWORD_ID=4103 [Accessed 1 November 2011]
- INOTAI, A., 2008. Towards a Common Energy Policy in the European Union? *Romanian Journal of European Affairs*, 8(3), 5–23
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2000. China's Worldwide Quest for Energy Security. Paris: OECD Publishing
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2001. Oil Supply Security. Paris: OECD Publishing
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2002. Security of Supply in Electricity Markets. Evidence and Policy Issues. Paris: OECD Publishing
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2008. *IEA Energy Policies Review: The European Union 2008.* Paris: OECD Publishing
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2010. World Energy Outlook 2010. Paris: OECD Publishing
- INTERNATIONAL ENERGY AGENCY, 2011. World Energy Outlook 2011. Paris: OECD Publishing
- JAKOBSON, L., 2008. Does China Have an "Energy Diplomacy"? Reflections on China`s Energy Security and its International Dimensions. *In:* A. MARQUINA, ed. *Energy security. Visions from Asia and Europe*. Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- KAHN, H., WIENER, A. J., and BELL, D., 1967. *The Year 2000. A framework for speculation on the next thirtythree years.* New York: Macmillan
- KLESSMANN, C. et al., 2011. Status and perspectives of renewable energy policy and deployment in the European Union—What is needed to reach the 2020 targets? Clean Cooking Fuels and Technologies in Developing Economies. *Energy Policy*, 39(12), 7637–7657
- KRUYT, B. et al., 2011. Indicators for energy security. *In:* B. K. SOVACOOL, ed. *The Routledge handbook of energy security*. London; New York: Routledge
- KURZE, K., 2009. Europas fragile Energiesicherheit. Versorgungskrisen und ihre Bedeutung für die europäische Energiepolitik. Berlin; Münster: Lit. (Forschungsberichte Internationale Politik; 37)

- LEANDER, A., 2008. Book Review Forum: Scenarios and Science in International Relations/International Political Economy: * Heikki Patomaki, The Political Economy of Global Security: War, Future Crises and Changes in Global Governance. London and New York: Routledge, 2008, 292 pp. ISBN 978--0-415--41672--6. *Cooperation and Conflict*, 43(4), 447–451
- LUFT, G., KORIN, A., and GUPTA, E., 2011. Energy security and climate change: A tenuous link. *In:* B. K. SOVACOOL, ed. *The Routledge handbook of energy security*. London; New York: Routledge, pp. 43–56
- MARKET OBSERVATORY FOR ENERGY, 2011. *Key Figures*. European Commission. Available at: http://ec.europa.eu/energy/observatory/eu_27_info/doc/key_figures.pdf#page=5 [Accessed 1 November 2011]
- MARTIN, W. F., and HARRJE, E. M., 2005. The International Energy Agency. *In:* J. H. KALICKI and D. L. GOLDWYN, eds. *Energy and security. Toward a new foreign policy strategy*. Washington, D.C, Baltimore: Woodrow Wilson Center Press; Johns Hopkins University Press, pp. 97–116
- MATLARY, J. H., 1997. *Energy policy in the European Union*. Basingstoke: Macmillan. (The European Union Series)
- MEIDAN, M., 2008. Perceptions and Misperceptions of Energy Supply Security in Europe and the "China Factor". *In:* A. MARQUINA, ed. *Energy security. Visions from Asia and Europe*. Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 34–53
- MINOIS, G., and MOLDENHAUER, E., 1998. *Geschichte der Zukunft. Orakel, Prophezeiungen, Utopien, Prognosen.* Düsseldorf [u.a.]: Artemis & Winkler
- MORALES, J., 2008. Russia as an Energy Great Power: Consequences for EU Energy Security. *In:* A. MARQUINA, ed. *Energy security. Visions from Asia and Europe*. Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan, pp. 24–33
- MÜKUSCH, C., 2011. Vernetzte Energiesicherheit. Wiesbaden: VS Verl. für Sozialwissenschaften
- MÜLLER, F., 2009. Energiesicherheit. Eine Strategie zum Überleben. *In:* BUNDESAKADEMIE FÜR SICHERHEITSPOLITIK, ed. *Sicherheitspolitik in neuen Dimensionen*. Hamburg: E.S. Mittler & Sohn (2), pp. 225–252
- MÜLLER-KRAENNER, S., 2008. Energy security. Re-measuring the world. London; Sterling, VA: Earthscan
- NABUCCO GAS PIPELINE, 2011. *Timeline*. Available at: <http://www.nabuccopipeline.com/portal/page/portal/en/pipeline/timeline_steps> [Accessed 26 December 2011]
- NEUMANN, I. B., and OVERLAND, E. F., 2004. International Relations and Policy Planning: The Method of Perspectivist Scenario Building. *International Studies Perspectives*, 5(3), 258–277
- NÖTZOLD, A., 2011. Die Energiepolitik der EU und der VR China. Handlungsempfehlungen zur europäischen Versorgungssicherheit. 1st ed. Wiesbaden: VS Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften
- NOEL, P., 2008. Challenging Myths of Energy Security. Financial Times. 10 January
- NUGENT, N., 2011. *The government and politics of the European Union*. 7th ed. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan. (The European Union Series)
- NYGREN, B., 2009. Unilateral endeavours challenging governance in the energy sector. Russia, China and the US. *In:* J. SPERLING, C. WAGNSSON and J. HALLENBERG, eds. *European security governance. The European Union in a Westphalian world*. Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon; New York: Routledge
- OLZ, S., 2007. Contribution of renewables to Energy Security. IEA Information Paper. International Energy Agency. Available at: http://www.iea.org/papers/2007/so_contribution.pdf> [Accessed 1 December 2011]
- OWEN, T., 2010. Human Security: A Contested Concept. *In:* J. P. BURGESS, ed. *The Routledge handbook of new security studies*. London; New York: Routledge, pp. 39–49
- PASCUAL, C., and ZAMBETAKIS, E., 2010. The Geopolitics of Energy. From Security to Survival. *In:* C. PASCUAL and J. ELKIND, eds. *Energy security: economics, politics, strategies, and implications*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press
- PATOMÄKI, H., 2008. The political economy of global security. War, future crises and changes in global governance. London; New York: Routledge

- POLAK, F. L., 1971. *Prognostics. A science in the making surveys and creates the future.* Amsterdam, New York: Elsevier Pub. Co.
- POLLAK, J., SLOMINSKI, P., and SCHUBERT, S. R., 2010. *Die Energiepolitik der EU*. Wien: Facultas Universitätsverlags- und Buchhandels
- RAPHAEL, S., and STOKES, D., 2010. Energy Security. *In:* A. COLLINS, ed. *Contemporary security studies*. 2nd ed. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 378–393

SCHNEIDER, A. M., 2010. EU-Kompetenzen einer europäischen Energiepolitik. 1st ed. Baden-Baden: Nomos

- SCHRÖDER, H.-H., and TULL, D. M., 2008. Europäische Energiesicherheit 2020. Szenarien für mögliche Entwicklungen in Europa und seinen energiepolitisch wichtigsten Nachbarregionen. Stiftung Wissenschaft und Politik (SWP)-Deutsches Institut für Internationale Politik und Sicherheit Berlin. Available at: <http://www.swp-berlin.org/fileadmin/contents/products/studien/2008_S04_shh_tll_ks.pdf> [Accessed 5 December 2011]
- SCHULENBERG, S., 2009. Die Energiepolitik der Europäischen Union. Eine kompetenzrechtliche Untersuchung unter besonderer Berücksichtigung finaler Kompetenznormen. 1st ed. Baden-Baden: Nomos
- SCHWARTZ, P., 1991. *The art of the long view. Planning for the future in an uncertain world*. 1st ed. New York, NY: Currency Doubleday
- SHELL INTERNATIONAL BV, 2008. Scenarios: An Explorer's Guide. Exploring the future. Available at: <http://wwwstatic.shell.com/static/public/downloads/brochures/corporate_pkg/scenarios/explorers_guide.pdf> [Accessed 31 October 2011]
- SIMONINI, J., 2009. *MultiFutureAnalysis. Szenariotechnik als methodischer Zugang zu langfristigen Analysen und Trendprojektoren*. Diplomarbeit. Universität Wien [Accessed 7 December 2011]
- SOUTH STREAM, 2011. Facts and Figures. Available at: <http://south-stream.info/index.php?id=14&L=1> [Accessed 26 December 2011]
- SOVACOOL, B. K., 2011. Introduction. Defining, measuring, and exploring energy security. *In:* B. K. SOVACOOL, ed. *The Routledge handbook of energy security*. London; New York: Routledge, pp. 1–42
- SOVACOOL, B. K., and BROWN, A. M., 2011. Measuring energy security in the OECD. *In:* B. K. SOVACOOL, ed. *The Routledge handbook of energy security*. London; New York: Routledge
- SUEDDEUTSCHE.DE, 2011. Russland bietet Energiepartnerschaft an Kraftwerk Moskau drängt auf deutschen Markt. Available at: http://www.sueddeutsche.de/wirtschaft/russland-bietet-energiepartnerschaft-an-kraftwerk-moskau-draengt-auf-deutschen-markt-1.1188143 [Accessed 29 November 2011]
- THE GUARDIAN, 2009. How do I know China wrecked the Copenhagen deal? I was in the room. Available at: <http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2009/dec/22/copenhagen-climate-change-mark-lynas> [Accessed 14 December 2011]
- THE GUARDIAN, 2011. *Q&A: what's behind the Ukraine-Russia gas dispute*. Available at: <http://www.guardian.co.uk/business/2009/jan/07/ukraine-russia-gas-dispute> [Accessed 20 November 2011]
- THE OBSERVER, 2011. Climate deal salvaged after marathon talks in Durban Environment. Available at: http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2011/dec/10/un-climate-change-summit-durban [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- THE WASHINGTON POST WITH FOREIGN POLICY, 2011. *Middle East and North Africa in turmoil: Tracking the protests | The Washington Post*. Available at: http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-srv/special/world/middle-east-protests/ [Accessed 1 November 2011]
- THOMAS L. FRIEDMAN, 2006. The First Law of Petropolitics. Foreign Policy(154), 28–36
- TIME, 2007. When Sarkozy Met Gaddafi. Available at: http://www.time.com/time/world/article/0,8599,1693121,00.html [Accessed 5 November 2011]
- TRUSCOTT, P., 2009. *European Energy Security. Facing a Future of Increasing Dependency?* Abingdon: Taylor & Francis. (Whitehall Paper; 73)

- UMBACH, F., 2008. German Debates on Energy Security and Impacts on Germany's 2007 EU Presidency. *In:* A. MARQUINA, ed. *Energy security. Visions from Asia and Europe*. Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- UMBACH, F., 2009. Motor oder Bremsklotz? Deutschland und die Energie(außen)politik der Europäischen Union. *WeltTrends*(66), 45–55
- UMBACH, F., 2011. Internationale Energiesicherheit. *In:* R. C. MEIER-WALSER and A. WOLF, eds. *Neue Dimensionen internationaler Sicherheitspolitik*. München: Hanns-Seidel-Stiftung, pp. 172–186
- WACK, P., 1985a. Scenarios. Uncharted waters ahead. Harvard Business Review, 63(5), 73-89
- WACK, P., 1985b. Scenarios: shooting the rapids. Harvard Business Review, 63(6), 139-150
- WILKINSON, L., 1995. How to build Scenarios. Planning for "long fuse, big bang" problems in an era of uncertainty. *Wired "Scenarios: The Future of the Future"*, Special Edition
- WORLD ENERGY COUNCIL, 2007. *Deciding the Future: Energy Policy Scenarios. World Energy Council 2007.* London: World Energy Council. Available at: http://www.worldenergy.org/documents/scenarios study es online.pdf> [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- WYCIESZKIEWICZ, E., 2009. Polish Perspective on the EU's Energy Policy and the Security of External Supply. International Issues and Slovak Foreign Policy Affairs(1), 15–28
- YERGIN, D., 2005. Energy Security and Markets. In: J. H. KALICKI and D. L. GOLDWYN, eds. Energy and security. Toward a new foreign policy strategy. Washington, D.C, Baltimore: Woodrow Wilson Center Press; Johns Hopkins University Press, pp. 51–64
- YERGIN, D., 2009. The prize. The epic quest for oil, money & power. Free Press trade pbk. ed. New York: Free Press
- YOUNG, M., 1968. Forecasting and the social sciences. London: Heinemann
- YOUNGS, R., 2009. Energy security. Europe's new foreign policy challenge. London; New York: Routledge
- ZEIT ONLINE, 2011. Erdgas: Nord-Stream-Pipeline geht in Betrieb. Available at: http://www.zeit.de/wirtschaft/2011-11/nord-stream-pipeline [Accessed 4 December 2011]

ADDITIONAL BIBLIOGRAPHY

- ALGIERI, F., EMMANOUILIDIS, A. J., and MARUHN, R., 2003. *Europas Zukunft. 5 EU-Szenarien*. Centrum für angewandte Politikforschung. Available at: http://www.cap.uni-muenchen.de/download/2003/2003_cap_szenarien.pdf> [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- BJØRNEBYE, H., 2010. Investing in EU energy security. Exploring the regulatory approach to tomorrow's electricity production. Alphen aan den Rijn, The Netherlands, Frederick, MD: Kluwer Law International
- BÖRJESON, L. et al., 2005. Towards a user's guide to scenarios. A report on scenario types and scenario techniques. KTH Architecture and the Built Environment. Available at:
 http://www.infra.kth.se/fms/pdf/ScenarioRapportVer1 1b.pdf> [Accessed 7 December 2011]
- BORJESON, L. et al., 2006. Scenario types and techniques: Towards a user's guide. Futures, 38(7), 723-739
- BP, 2011. Energy Outlook 2030. 60 years BP Statistical Review. Available at: http://www.bp.com/liveassets/bp_internet/globalbp/globalbp_uk_english/reports_and_publications/statistical_energy_review_2011/STAGING/local_assets/pdf/2030_energy_outlook_booklet.pdf> [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- BUCHAN, D., 2007. Oxford Energy Comment: August 2007. Europe's mid-summer blues. The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. Available at: http://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wpcontent/uploads/2011/01/Aug2007-Europesmidsumme-blues-DavidBuchan.pdf> [Accessed 12 November 2011]

- BUCHAN, D., 2007. Oxford Energy Comment: January 2007. Europe's crab-like sidle towards a common energy policy. The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. Available at: http://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2011/01/Jan2007-Europescrab-likesidle-DavidBuchan.pdf> [Accessed 12 November 2011]
- BUCHAN, D., 2008. Oxford Energy Comment: December 2008. Europe's complex climate compromise. The Oxford Institute for Energy Studies. Available at: http://www.oxfordenergy.org/wpcms/wp-content/uploads/2011/01/Dec2008-ClimateCompromise-DavidBuchan.pdf> [Accessed 12 November 2011]
- BUNDESAKADEMIE FÜR SICHERHEITSPOLITIK, ed., 2009. *Sicherheitspolitik in neuen Dimensionen*, 2. Hamburg: E.S. Mittler & Sohn
- BURGESS, J. P., ed., 2010. The Routledge handbook of new security studies. London; New York: Routledge
- BUSEK, E., 2006. The Energy Community Treaty: Securing the Energy Supply in Southeast Europe and in the EU. *Sudosteuropa Mitteilungen*, 46(5-6), 16–21
- Capgemini, 2011. Capgemini European Energy Markets Observatory (EEMO). Nuclear Development to Continue despite Fukushima Accident. Arab Spring and Nuclear related decisions Contribute to Worrying Decline in European Energy Security of Supply. Paris. Available at: http://www.us.capgemini.com/news-events/press-releases/capgemini-european-energy-markets-observatory-eemo-nuclear-development-to-continue-despite-fukushima-accident/> [Accessed 1 November 2011]
- CIUTA, F., 2010. Conceptual Notes on Energy Security: Total or Banal Security? *Security Dialogue*, 41(2), 123–144
- CLAPHAM, W. B., JR, PESTEL, R. F., and ARNASZUS, H., 1979. On the Scenario Approach to Simulation Modeling for Complex Policy Assessment and Design. *Policy Sciences*, 11(2), 157–177
- COATES, J., 2000. Scenario Planning. Technological Forecasting and Social Change, 65, 115–123
- COLLINS, A., ed., 2010. Contemporary security studies. 2nd ed. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press
- EURATOM, 2009. Euratom Treaty. Available at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/en/treaties/dat/12006A/12006A.htm> [Accessed 8 November 2011]
- GIEGERICH, B., ed., 2010. Europe and global security. 1st ed. Adelphi, 414/415. New York, NY: Routledge
- HAGHIGHI, S. S., 2008. Energy Security and the Division of Competences between the European Community and its Member States. *European Law Journal*, 14(4), 461–482
- HARRIS, P. G., 2007. *Europe and global climate change. Politics, foreign policy and regional cooperation.* Cheltenham: Edward Elgar
- HEDENUS, F., AZAR, C., and JOHANSSON, D. J. A., 2010. Energy security policies in EU-25—The expected cost of oil supply disruptions. Security, Prosperity and Community – Towards a Common European Energy Policy? Special Section with Regular Papers. *Energy Policy*, 38(3), 1241–1250
- HILLENGAß, C., 2011. Atomkraft und Protest. Die politische Wirkung der Anti-AKW-Bewegung in Deutschland, Frankreich und Schweden. München: Oekom-Verl.
- HØYLAND, K., and WALLACE, S. W., 2001. Generating Scenario Trees for Multistage Decision Problems. Management Science, 47(2), 295–307
- JANSEN, J. C., and SEEBREGTS, A. J., 2010. Long-term energy services security: What is it and how can it be measured and valued? Energy Security - Concepts and Indicators with regular papers. *Energy Policy*, 38(4), 1654–1664
- KALICKI, J. H., and GOLDWYN, D. L., eds., 2005. *Energy and security. Toward a new foreign policy strategy.* Washington, D.C, Baltimore: Woodrow Wilson Center Press; Johns Hopkins University Press
- KAVESHNIKOV, N., 2010. The issue of energy security in relations between Russia and the European Union. *European Security*, 19(4), 585–605
- KIRCHNER, E., and BERK, C. A., 2010. European Energy Security Co-operation: Between Amity and Enmity. *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 48(4), 859–880
- KUSKU, E., 2010. Enforceability of a Common Energy Supply Security Policy in the EU. An Integovernmentalist Assessment. *Caucasian review of international relations*, 4(2), 145–158

- LESAGE, D., VAN DE GRAAF, T., and WESTPHAL, K., 2010. *Global Energy Governance in a Multipolar World*. Farnham: Ashgate Pub.
- LOCATELLI, C., 2010. Russian and Caspian Hydrocarbons: Energy Supply Stakes for the European Union. *Europe-Asia Studies*, 62(6), 959–971
- LÖSCHEL, A., MOSLENER, U., and RÜBBELKE, D. T. G., 2010. Energy security—concepts and indicators. Energy Security Concepts and Indicators with regular papers. *Energy Policy*, 38(4), 1607–1608
- LUFT, G., and KORIN, A., eds., 2009. *Energy security challenges for the 21st century. A reference handbook.* Santa Barbara, Calif: Praeger Security International
- MANTZOS, L., and CAPROS, P., 2006. European Energy and Transport. Scenarios on energy efficiency and renewables. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities
- MARKANDYA, A., and PEMBERTON, M., 2010. Energy security, energy modelling and uncertainty. Energy Security Concepts and Indicators with regular papers. *Energy Policy*, 38(4), 1609–1613
- MARQUINA, A., ed., 2008. *Energy security. Visions from Asia and Europe.* Basingstoke [England]; New York: Palgrave Macmillan
- MAUER, V., and CAVELTY, M. D., 2009. The Routledge Handbook of Security Studies. Hoboken: Taylor & Francis
- MEIER-WALSER, R. C., and WOLF, A., eds., 2011. *Neue Dimensionen internationaler Sicherheitspolitik*. München: Hanns-Seidel-Stiftung
- MILLETT, S. M., 2003. The future of scenarios: challenges and opportunities. *Strategy & Leadership*, 31(2), 16–24
- MORAN, D., and RUSSELL, J. A., 2009. *Energy security and global politics. The militarization of resource management.* London; New York: Routledge
- NEUMAN, M., 2010. EU-Russian Energy Relations after the 2004/2007 EU Enlargement: An EU Perspective. *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 18(3), 341–360
- PAPAVA, V., and TOKMAZISHVILLI, M., 2010. Russian Energy Politics and the EU. How to change the paradigm. *Caucasian review of international affairs*, 4(3), 103–111
- PASCUAL, C., and ELKIND, J., eds., 2010. *Energy security: economics, politics, strategies, and implications*. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution Press
- SANDEN, J., 2009. Die New-governance-Ansätze in der europäischen Wirtschaftspolitik am Beispiel der Energiepolitik. Marburg: Tectum-Verlag
- SHELL INTERNATIONAL BV, 2008. Shell energy scenarios to 2050. Available at: http://www-static.shell.com/static/public/downloads/brochures/corporate_pkg/scenarios/shell_energy_scenarios_205 0.pdf> [Accessed 13 December 2011]
- SIMURDIC, M., 2009. The Energy Community EU Energy Enlargement? International Issues and Slovak Foreign Policy Affairs(3), 49–68
- SMITH, A., 2009. An inquiry into the nature and causes of the wealth of nations. Lawrence, KS: Digireads.com Publishing
- SOVACOOL, B. K., ed., 2011. The Routledge handbook of energy security. London; New York: Routledge
- SPERLING, J., WAGNSSON, C., and HALLENBERG, J., eds., 2009. *European security governance. The European Union in a Westphalian world*. Milton Park, Abingdon, Oxon; New York: Routledge
- SVIDEN, O., 1986. Methodology. A scenario method for forecasting. Futures, October 1986(10), 681-691
- URBAN, S., 2010. Energy supply and security policy—In the need of transnational institutions? Security, Prosperity and Community – Towards a Common European Energy Policy? Special Section with Regular Papers. *Energy Policy*, 38(3), 1227–1228
- VAHABOV, T., 2010. Ukraine: A Challenge for U.S., EU & NATO Regional Policy. *Caucasian review of international affairs*, 4(3), 297–305

- VOGLER, J., ed., 1996. *The environment and international relations. Global environmental change programme* Global environmental change series. London: Routledge
- WALLACE, H., POLLACK, M. A., and YOUNG, A. R., eds., 2010. *Policy-making in the European Union*. 6th ed. The new European Union Series. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press

WEI, Y.-M., 2010. Energy economics. Modeling and empirical analysis in China. Boca Raton: CRC Press

WEIDENFELD, W., 2010. Die Europäische Union. Paderborn: Fink

ZILLMAN, D. N., 2008. *Beyond the carbon economy. Energy law in transition.* Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press

EIGENSTÄNDIGKEITSERKLÄRUNG

Ich versichere, dass ich die vorgelegte Bachelorarbeit eigenständig und ohne fremde Hilfe verfasst, keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen verwendet und die den benutzten Quellen entnommenen Passagen als solche kenntlich gemacht habe. Diese Bachelorarbeit ist in dieser oder einer ähnlichen Form in keinem anderen Kurs vorgelegt worden.

Daniel Antin

München, den 7. Januar 2012